

Secretary of State  
**NOTICE OF PROPOSED RULEMAKING HEARING**  
A Statement of Need and Fiscal Impact accompanies this form.

Oregon Health Authority (OHA),	Health Systems Division (Division)	309
Agency and Division		Administrative Rules Chapter Number
Sandy Cafourek	500 Summer St NE, Salem, OR 97301	(503) 945-6430
Rules Coordinator	Address	Telephone

**RULE CAPTION**

Rules Revisions Required to Comply with the Oregon Performance Plan

Not more than 15 words that reasonably identifies the subject matter of the agency's intended action.

June 16, 2017	10:30 a.m.	500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR 97301	Room 137B	Sandy Cafourek
Hearing Date	Time	Location		Hearings Officer

*Auxiliary aids for persons with disabilities are available upon advance request.*

**RULEMAKING ACTION**

Secure approval of new rule numbers (Adopted or Renumbered rules) with the Administrative Rules Unit prior to filing.

**ADOPT:** 309-019-0151, 309-019-0152, 309-019-0226, 309-019-0241, 309-019-0242, 309-019-0270, 309-019-0275, 309-019-0280, 309-019-0285, 309-019-0290, 309-019-0295, 309-019-0300, 309-019-0305, 309-019-0310, 309-019-0315, 309-019-0320

**AMEND:** OAR 309-019-0100, 309-019-0105, 309-019-0110, 309-019-0115, 309-019-0120, 309-019-0125, 309-019-0130, 309-019-0135, 309-019-0140, 309-019-0145, 309-019-0150, 309-019-0155, 309-019-0160, 309-019-0165, 309-019-0170, 309-019-0175, 309-019-0180, 309-019-0185, 309-019-0190, 309-019-0195, 309-019-0200, 309-019-0205, 309-019-0210, 309-0215, 309-019-0220, 309-019-0225, 309-019-0230, 309-019-0235, 309-019-0240, 309-019-0245, 309-019-0248, 309-019-0250, 309-019-0255

**REPEAL:** OAR 309-019-0105(T), 309-019-0110(T), 309-019-0115(T), 309-019-0120(T), 309-019-0125(T), 309-019-0130(T), 309-019-0135(T), 309-019-0140(T), 309-019-0145(T), 309-019-0150(T), 309-019-0151(T), 309-019-0152(T), 309-019-0155(T), 309-019-0160(T), 309-019-0165(T), 309-019-0175(T), 309-019-0180(T), 309-019-0185(T), 309-019-0215(T), 309-019-0225(T), 309-019-0226(T), 309-019-0230(T), 309-019-0235(T), 309-019-0240(T), 309-019-0241(T), 309-019-0242(T), 309-019-0245(T), 309-019-0248(T), 309-019-0250(T), 309-019-0270(T), 309-019-0275(T), 309-019-0280(T), 309-019-0285(T), 309-019-0290(T), 309-019-0295(T);

**RENUMBER:**

**AMEND & RENUMBER:**

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 426.490 - 426.500, 430.256, 430.640, 443.450, 461.549

Other Auth.:

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380- 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.630, 430.640, 430.634, 430.644 - 430.646, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052, 813.200 - 813.270

**RULE SUMMARY**

The Authority needs to amend these rules in o OAR 309 Division 019 in order to comply with the Oregon Performance Plan. The majority of the changes to OAR 309-019 were made to comply with Oregon Performance Plan for Individuals with Serious and Persistent Mental Illness with the United States Department of Justice. The Oregon Health Authority (OHA) has issued a Plan to improve mental health services for adults with serious and persistent mental illness (SPMI). This Plan is referred to as the Oregon Performance Plan. The Plan is being issued after lengthy discussions with the Civil Rights Division of the United States Department of Justice (USDOJ). In the Oregon

Performance Plan, the Authority commits to quality and performance improvement measures, and to data reporting. These measures cover a broad array of subjects, including Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) services, crisis services, peer-delivered services, and supported employment services. New rules are being adopted for crisis line services in order to comply with the crisis services performance outcomes of the Oregon Performance Plan.


The agency requests public comment on whether other options should be considered for achieving the rule's substantive goals while reducing the negative economic impact of the rule on business.

June 19, 2017, by 5 p.m.

Send written comments to: [hsd.rules@state.or.us](mailto:hsd.rules@state.or.us)

**Last Day for Public Comment** (Last day to submit written comments to the Rules Coordinator)

---

	Nicole Corbin LPC	5/4/17
Signature	Printed name	Date

**Note:** Hearing Notices must be submitted by the 15th day of the month to be published in the next month's *Oregon Bulletin*.

Secretary of State

**STATEMENT OF NEED AND FISCAL IMPACT**

A Notice of Proposed Rulemaking Hearing or a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking accompanies this form.

Oregon Health Authority (Authority),	Health Systems Division (Division)	309
Agency and Division		Administrative Rules Chapter Number

Rules Revisions Required to Comply with the Oregon Performance Plan

Rule Caption (Not more than 15 words that reasonably identifies the subject matter of the agency's intended action.)

In the Matter of: The amendment of OAR 309-019-0100, 309-019-0105, 309-019-0110, 309-019-0115, 309-019-0120, 309-019-0125, 309-019-0130, 309-019-0135, 309-019-0140, 309-019-0145, 309-019-0150, 309-019-0155, 309-019-0160, 309-019-0165, 309-019-0170, 309-019-0175, 309-019-0180, 309-019-0185, 309-019-0190, 309-019-0195, 309-019-0200, 309-019-0205, 309-019-0210, 309-0215, 309-019-0220, 309-019-0225, 309-019-0230, 309-019-0235, 309-019-0240, 309-019-0245, 309-019-0248, 309-019-0250, 309-019-0255; the repeal of temporary rules OAR 309-019-0105(T), 309-019-0110(T), 309-019-0115(T), 309-019-0120(T), 309-019-0125(T), 309-019-0130(T), 309-019-0135(T), 309-019-0140(T), 309-019-0145(T), 309-019-0150(T), 309-019-0151(T), 309-019-0152(T), 309-019-0155(T), 309-019-0160(T), 309-019-0165(T), 309-019-0175(T), 309-019-0180(T), 309-019-0185(T), 309-019-0215(T), 309-019-0225(T), 309-019-0226(T), 309-019-0230(T), 309-019-0235(T), 309-019-0240(T), 309-019-0241(T), 309-019-0242(T), 309-019-0245(T), 309-019-0248(T), 309-019-0250(T), 309-019-0270(T), 309-019-0275(T), 309-019-0280(T), 309-019-0285(T), 309-019-0290(T), 309-019-0295(T); and the adoption of 309-019-0151, 309-019-0152, 309-019-0226, 309-019-0241, 309-019-0242, 309-019-0270, 309-019-0275, 309-019-0280, 309-019-0285, 309-019-0290, 309-019-0295, 309-019-0300, 309-019-0305, 309-019-0310, 309-019-0315, 309-019-0320.

Statutory Authority: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 426.490 - 426.500, 430.256, 430.640, 443.450, 461.549

Other Authority:

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380- 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.630, 430.640, 430.634, 430.644 - 430.646, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052, 813.200 - 813.270

Need for the Rule(s): The Authority needs to amend these rules in o OAR 309 Division 019 in order to comply with the Oregon Performance Plan. The majority of the changes to OAR 309-019 were made to comply with Oregon Performance Plan for Individuals with Serious and Persistent Mental Illness with the United States Department of Justice. The Oregon Health Authority (OHA) has issued a Plan to improve mental health services for adults with serious and persistent mental illness (SPMI). This Plan is referred to as the Oregon Performance Plan. The Plan is being issued after lengthy discussions with the Civil Rights Division of the United States Department of Justice (USDOJ). In the Oregon Performance Plan, the Authority commits to quality and performance improvement measures, and to data reporting. These measures cover a broad array of subjects, including Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) services, crisis services, peer-delivered services, and supported employment services. New rules are being adopted for crisis line services in order to comply with the crisis services performance outcomes of the Oregon Performance Plan.

Documents Relied Upon, and where they are available: The Performance Plan can be found at <https://www.oregon.gov/oha/bhp/OregonPerformancePlan/Oregon-Performance-Plan.pdf>.

Fiscal and Economic Impact: For 309-019-0130 Personnel Documentation, Training and Supervision, there will be some fiscal impact to the Community Mental Health Programs (CMHPs) as they will need to pay for at least one hour of co-supervision by a qualified Peer Delivered Services (PDS) Supervisor for Peer Support or Peer Wellness Specialist per month. The Division believes that this service may be contracted out by many providers to Peer Run Organizations. Currently the pay for PDS supervisors is about \$21 in the metro area with lower rates statewide. While the Division is unable to ascertain the fiscal impact statewide, the Division estimates a fiscal impact of \$1,000 a year per PSS/PWS for the CMHPs and providers.

For OAR 309-019-0151 – 309-019-0152 Mobile Crisis Services, it is anticipated that there will be significant fiscal impact to community mental health programs (CMHPs) as a result of this rule. OAR 309-019-0151 – 309-019-0152



requires CMHPs to provide mobile mental health crisis services 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days a year, sets maximum mobile crisis response times, and requires CMHPs to respond anywhere a mental crisis event happens in the CMHP's geographic service area. Because mobile crisis programs are funded differently in almost every county, it is impossible to ascertain the fiscal impact statewide. The estimated potential statewide fiscal impact could be as low as \$20 million and as high as \$35 million depending on how CMHPs can leverage current funding and existing program infrastructure.

There is no anticipated fiscal impact for OAR 309-019-0155 Enhanced Care Services and Enhanced Care Outreach Services; OAR 309-019-0225 - 309-019-0255 Assertive Community Treatment; OAR 309-019-0270 - 309-019-0295 Individual Placement and Support (IPS) Supported Employment Services; and OAR 309-019-0300 – 309-019-0320 Crisis Line Services.

Statement of Cost of Compliance:

1. Impact on state agencies, units of local government and the public (ORS 183.335(2)(b)(E)): For 309-019-0130 Personnel Documentation, Training and Supervision, there will be some fiscal impact to the Community Mental Health Programs (CMHPs) as they will need to pay for at least one hour of co-supervision by a qualified Peer Delivered Services (PDS) Supervisor for Peer Support or Peer Wellness Specialist per month. The Division believes that this service may be contracted out by many providers to Peer Run Organizations. Currently the pay for PDS supervisors is about \$21 in the metro area with lower rates statewide. While the Division is unable to ascertain the fiscal impact statewide, the Division estimates a fiscal impact of \$1,000 a year per PSS/PWS for the CMHPs and providers.

For OAR 309-019-0151 – 309-019-0152 Mobile Crisis Services, it is anticipated that there will be significant fiscal impact to community mental health programs (CMHPs) as a result of this rule. OAR 309-019-0151 – 309-019-0152 requires CMHPs to provide mobile mental health crisis services 24 hours a day, seven days a week, 365 days a year, sets maximum mobile crisis response times, and requires CMHPs to respond anywhere a mental crisis event happens in the CMHP's geographic service area. Because mobile crisis programs are funded differently in almost every county, it is impossible to ascertain the fiscal impact statewide. The estimated potential statewide fiscal impact could be as low as \$20 million and as high as \$35 million depending on how CMHPs can leverage current funding and existing program infrastructure.

There is no anticipated fiscal impact for OAR 309-019-0155 Enhanced Care Services and Enhanced Care Outreach Services; OAR 309-019-0225 - 309-019-0255 Assertive Community Treatment; OAR 309-019-0270 - 309-019-0295 Individual Placement and Support (IPS) Supported Employment Services; and OAR 309-019-0300 – 309-019-0320 Crisis Line Services.

2. Cost of compliance effect on small business (ORS 183.336):

- a. Estimate the number of small businesses and types of business and industries with small businesses subject to the rule: No anticipated fiscal impact for OAR 309-019-0300 – 309-019-0320 Crisis Line Services.
- b. Projected reporting, recordkeeping and other administrative activities required for compliance, including costs of professional services: No anticipated fiscal impact for OAR 309-019-0300 – 309-019-0320 Crisis Line Services.
- c. Equipment, supplies, labor and increased administration required for compliance: No anticipated fiscal impact for OAR 309-019-0300 – 309-019-0320 Crisis Line Services.

How were small businesses involved in the development of this rule? No small business stakeholders participated in the RAC.

Administrative Rule Advisory Committee consulted?: Yes/No. If not, why? Yes, the following entities were involved in the RAC process and in advising the Authority on these amendments: Association of Community Mental Health Providers (AOCMHP), Community Mental Health Providers (CMHP) Directors, and other CMHP representatives, consumers, The Office of Consumer Activities (OCA),



Chris Norman

5/4/17

Signature

Printed Name

Date

OREGON HEALTH AUTHORITY,  
HEALTH SYSTEMS DIVISION: ~~MENTAL~~

BEHAVIORAL HEALTH TREATMENT SERVICES

DIVISION 19

SERVICE DELIVERY STANDARDS FOR ~~OUTPATIENT~~ BEHAVIORAL HEALTH  
TREATMENT SERVICES

~~OUTPATIENT ADDICTIONS AND MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES~~

309-019-0100

**Purpose and Scope**

- (1) ~~Purpose~~: These rules prescribe minimum service delivery standards for services and supports provided by providers certified by the Health Systems Division of the Oregon Health Authority.
- (2) ~~Scope~~: In addition to applicable requirements in OAR 410-120-0000 through 410-120-1980 and 943-120-0000 through 943-120-1550, these rules specify standards for behavioral health treatment services and supports provided in:
  - (a) Outpatient Community Mental Health Services and Supports for Children and Adults;
  - (b) Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment Services; and
  - (c) Outpatient Problem Gambling Treatment Services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, ~~428.205 - 428.270~~, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, ~~413.520 - 413.522, 428.205 - 428.270~~, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, ~~430.240 - 430.640~~, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, ~~813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

309-019-0105

**Definitions**

- (1) "Abuse of an ~~A~~adult" means the circumstances defined in OAR 943-045-0250 through 943-045-0370 for abuse of an adult with mental illness.
- (2) "Abuse of a ~~C~~child" means the circumstances defined in ORS 419B.005.
- (3) "Acute Care Psychiatric Hospital" means a hospital or facility that provides 24-hours-a-day psychiatric, multi-disciplinary, inpatient or residential stabilization, care, and treatment.
- (~~3~~4) "Addictions and Mental Health Services and Supports" means all services and supports including ~~;~~ but not limited to ~~;~~ Outpatient Behavioral Health Services and Supports for Children and Adults, Intensive Treatment Services for Children, Outpatient and Residential

Substance Use Disorders Treatment Services, and Outpatient and Residential Problem Gambling Treatment Services.

(45) "Adolescent" means an individual from 12 through 17 years of age, or those individuals ~~who are~~ determined to be developmentally appropriate for youth services.

(56) "Adult" means ~~a person-individual~~ 18 years of age or older, or an emancipated minor. An individual with Medicaid eligibility, who is in need of services specific to children, adolescents, or young adults in transition, must be considered a child until age 21 for the purposes of these rules. Adults who are between the ages of 18 and 21, who are considered children for purposes of these rules, must have all rights afforded to adults as specified in these rules.

(7) "Assertive Community Treatment (ACT)" means an evidence-based practice designed to provide comprehensive treatment and support services to individuals with serious and persistent mental illness. -ACT is intended to serve individuals who have severe functional impairments and who have not responded to traditional psychiatric outpatient treatment. ACT services are -provided by a single multi-disciplinary team, which that typically includes a psychiatrist, a nurse, and at least two case managers, and are designed to meet the -individual-needs of each individual and to help keep the individual in the community and out of a structured service setting, such as residential and/or hospital care. ACT is characterized by the following:

(1a) Llow client to staff ratios;

(2b) Pproviding services in the community rather than in the office;

(3c) Sshared caseloads among team members;

(4d) 24Twenty-four-hour staff availability;

(5e) Ddirect provision of all services by the team (rather than referring individuals to other agencies); and

(6f) Ttime-unlimited services.

(68) "Assessment" means the process of obtaining sufficient information, through a face-to-face interview to determine a diagnosis and to plan individualized services and supports.

(79) "ASAM PPC" means the most current publication of the American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM) Patient Placement Criteria (PPC) for the Treatment of Substance-related Disorders, which is a clinical guide used in matching individuals to appropriate levels of care, and is incorporated by reference in these rules.

(810) "Authority" means the Oregon Health Authority.

(911) "Behavioral Health Treatment": means treatment for mental health ~~treatment~~, substance use disorder ~~treatment~~, and problem gambling ~~treatment~~.

(1012) "Behavior Support Plan" means the individualized proactive support strategies ~~that are~~ used to support positive behavior.

(4113) "Behavior Support Strategies" means proactive supports designed to replace challenging behavior with functional, positive behavior. The strategies address environmental, social, neuro-developmental, and physical factors that affect behavior.

(14) "Best Practice Risk Assessment" has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-023-0110.

(4215) "Care Coordination" means a process-oriented activity to facilitate ongoing communication and collaboration to meet multiple needs. Care coordination includes facilitating communication between the family, natural supports, community resources, and involved providers and agencies; organizing, facilitating and participating in team meetings; and providing for continuity of care by creating linkages to and managing transitions between levels of care and transitions for young adults in transition to adult services.

(4316) "Case Management" means the services provided to assist individuals, who reside in a community setting, or are transitioning to a community setting, in gaining access to needed medical, social, educational, entitlement, and other applicable services.

(4417) "Certificate" means the document or documents issued by ~~OH~~the Authority that, which identifies and declares certification of a provider pursuant to OAR 309-008-0000. A letter accompanying issuance of the cCertificate shall will detail the scope and approved locations of the cCertificate.

(4518) "Chief Officer" means the Chief Health Systems Officer of the Division, or his or hertheir designee.

(4619) "Child" means a personan individual under the age of 18. An individual with Medicaid eligibility, who is in need of services specific to children, adolescents, or young adults in transition, must be considered a child until age 21 for purposes of these rules.

~~(17) "Child and Family Team" means the people who are responsible for creating, implementing, reviewing, and revising the service coordination section of the Service Plan in ICTS programs. At a minimum, the team must be comprised of the family, care coordinator, and child when appropriate. The team should also include any involved child-serving providers and agencies and any other natural, formal, and informal supports as identified by the family.~~

(4720) "Clinical Supervision" means oversight by a qualified cClinical sSupervisor of addictions and mental health services and supports provided according to theeseis rules, including ongoing evaluation and improvement of the effectiveness of those services and supports.

(4821) "Clinical Supervisor" means an individual person qualified to oversee and evaluate addictions or mental health services and supports.

~~(20) "Community-based" means that services and supports must be provided in a participant's home and surrounding community and not solely based in a traditional office-setting.~~

~~(a) ACT services may not be provided to individuals residing in an RTF or RTH licensed by HSD, unless:~~



~~(A) The individual is not being provided rehabilitative services; or~~

~~(B) The individual has been identified for transition to a less intensive level of care. When identified for transition to a less intensive level of care, the individual may receive ACT services for up to six months prior to discharge from the RTH or RTF.~~

~~(21) “Competitive Integrated Employment” means full-time or part-time work: at minimum wage or higher, at a rate that is not less than the customary rate paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by other employees who are not individuals with disabilities, and who are similarly situated in similar occupations by the same employer and who have similar training, experience, and skill; with eligibility for the level of benefits provided to other employees; at a location where the employee interacts with other persons who are not individuals with disabilities (not including supervisory personnel or individuals who are providing services to such employee) to the same extent that individuals who are not individuals with disabilities and who are in comparable positions interact with other persons; and as appropriate, presents opportunities for advancement that are similar to those for other employees who are not individuals with disabilities and who have similar positions.~~

~~(22)(a) “Comprehensive Assessment” means the organized process of gathering and analyzing current and past information with each individual and the family and/or support system and other significant people to evaluate:~~

~~(A) Mental and functional status;~~

~~(B) Effectiveness of past treatment;~~

~~(C) Current Treatment, rehabilitation and support needs to achieve individual goals and support recovery; and~~

~~(D) The range of individual strengths (e.g., knowledge gained from dealing with adversity, personal/professional roles, talents, personal traits) that can act as resources to the individual and his/her recovery planning team in pursuing goals.~~

~~(b) The results of the information gathering and analysis are used to:~~

~~(A) Establish immediate and longer-term service needs with each individual;~~

~~(B) Set goals and develop the first person directed recovery plan with each individual; and,~~

~~(C) Optimize benefits that can be derived from existing strengths and resources of the individual and his/her family and/or natural support network in the community.~~

~~(23) “Co-Occurring Disorders (COD) Services” include integrated assessment and treatment for individuals who have co-occurring mental health and substance use condition.~~

~~(2422) “Co-occurring Substance Use and Mental Health Disorders (COD)” means the existence of a diagnosis of both a substance use disorder and a mental health disorder.~~



(2023) "Community Mental Health Program (CMHP)" means the organization of various services for persons/individuals with a mental health diagnosis or addictive disorders, operated by, or contractually affiliated with, a local mental health authority and operated in a specific geographic area of the state under an agreement with the Division pursuant to OAR chapter 309- division 014.

(21524) "Coordinated Care Organization (CCO)" means a corporation, governmental agency, public corporation, or other legal entity that has been certified as meeting the criteria adopted by the Authority under ORS 414.625 to be accountable for care management and to provide integrated and coordinated and integrated health care for each of the organization's members/services.

(22625) "Conditional Release" means placement by a court or the Psychiatric Security Review Board (PSRB), of an individual person who has been found eligible under ORS 161.327(2)(b)[GK1] or 161.336, for supervision and treatment in a community setting.

(23726) "Court" means the last convicting or ruling court unless specifically noted.

(24827) "Criminal Records Check" means the Oregon Criminal Records Check and the processes and procedures required by OAR 407-007-0000 through 407-007-0370943-007-0001 through 0501.

(289) "Crisis" means either an actual or perceived urgent or emergent situation that occurs when an individual's stability or functioning is disrupted, and there is an immediate need to resolve the situation to prevent a serious deterioration in the individual's mental or physical health or to prevent referral to a significantly higher level of care, or death by suicide.

(29) "Crisis Intervention" means immediate supportive interventions that can include stabilization, counseling, advocacy, information, and referral depending on the assessed needs of the individual. has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-023-0110.

(30) "Crisis Line Services" means a phone-based services that establishes immediate communication links and provides supportive interventions and information for individual's people in an urgent or emergent situation.

(31) "Crisis Plan" means an individualized document designed to help anticipate and prevent future crisis episodes and direct interventions in the instance of a crisis. (30) "Triage" means a classification process to determine priority needs.

(263032) "Cultural Competence/Awareness" means the process by which individuals/people and systems respond respectfully and effectively to individuals/people of all cultures, languages, classes, races, ethnic backgrounds, disabilities, religions, genders, Gender Identity, and Gender Expression, sexual orientations, and other diversity factors in a manner that recognizes, affirms, and values the worth of individuals, families, and communities and protects and preserves the dignity of each.

(273433) "Culturally Specific Program" means a program that is designed to meet the unique service needs of a specific culture and that provides services to a majority of individuals representing that culture.

(~~283234~~) "Declaration for Mental Health Treatment" means a written statement of an individual's preferences concerning ~~his or her~~their mental health treatment. The declaration is made when the individual is able to understand and legally make decisions related to such treatment. It is honored, as clinically appropriate, in the event the individual becomes unable to make such decisions.

(~~293335~~) "Diagnosis" means the principal mental health, substance use, or problem gambling diagnosis listed in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). The diagnosis is determined through the assessment and any examinations, tests, or consultations suggested by the assessment, and is the medically appropriate reason for services.

(~~30436~~) "Division" means the Health Systems Division.

~~(35) "Division approved reviewer" means the Oregon Center of Excellence for Assertive Community Treatment (OCEACT). OCEACT is the Division's contracted entity that is responsible for conducting ACT fidelity reviews, training, and technical assistance to support new and existing ACT programs statewide.~~

(~~31637~~) "DSM" means the most recent version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, published by the American Psychiatric Association.

(~~32738~~) "Driving Under the Influence of Intoxicants (DUI) Substance Use Disorders Rehabilitation Program" means a program of treatment and therapeutically oriented education services for an individual who is either:

(a) A violator of ORS 813.010 (Driving Under the Influence of Intoxicants); or

(b) A defendant ~~who is~~ participating in a diversion agreement under ORS 813.200.

(~~33839~~) "Emergent" means the onset of symptoms requiring attention within 24 hours to prevent serious deterioration in mental or physical health or threat to safety.

(~~34940~~) "Enhanced Care Services (ECS)" and "Enhanced Care Outreach Services (ECOS)" means intensive behavioral and rehabilitative mental health services to eligible individuals who reside in Aging and People with Disabilities (APD) licensed homes or facilities.

(~~354041~~) "Entry" means the act or process of acceptance and enrollment into services regulated by this rule.

(~~36442~~) "Family" means the biological or legal parents, siblings, other relatives, foster parents, legal guardians, spouse, domestic partner, caregivers, and other primary relations to the individual whether by blood, adoption, or legal or social relationships. Family also means any natural, formal or informal support persons identified as important by the individual.

(~~374243~~) "Family Support" means the provision of peer delivered supportive services to ~~persons~~ people defined as family to the individual. It includes support to caregivers at community meetings, assistance to families in system navigation and managing multiple appointments, supportive home visits, peer support, parent mentoring and coaching, advocacy, and furthering efforts to develop natural and informal community supports.

~~(3844)~~ "Family Support Specialist" means an individual who meets qualification criteria under ORS 4124.665 and provides supportive services to and has experienced parenting a child who is a current or former consumer of mental health or addiction treatment or is facing or has faced difficulties in accessing education and health and wellness services due to a mental health or behavioral health barrier.

~~(43)~~ "Fixed point of responsibility" means the ACT team itself provides virtually all needed services, rather than sending clients to different providers. If the team cannot provide a service (e.g. dental services) the team ensures that the service is provided.

~~(394445)~~ "Gender Identity" means an individual's person's self-identification of gender, without regard to legal or biological identification, including, but not limited to, individuals persons identifying themselves as male, female, transgender, and transsexual, non-binary, and gender diverse.

~~(4546)~~ "Gender Expression/Presentation" means the external characteristics and behaviors that are socially defined as either masculine or feminine, or androgynous such as dress, mannerisms, speech patterns, and social interactions.

~~(4147)~~ "Geographic Service Area" means the geographic catchment area within the county boundaries in which the CMHP operates.

~~(42648)~~ "Grievance" means a formal complaint submitted to a provider verbally, or in writing, by an individual, or the individual's chosen representative, pertaining to the denial or delivery of services and supports.

~~(44749)~~ "Guardian" means an individual person appointed by a court of law to act as guardian of a minor or a legally incapacitated individual person.

~~(43850)~~ "HIPAA" means the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and the regulations published in Title 45, parts 160 and 164, of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR).

~~(49)~~ "Hospital discharge planning" for the purposes of the ACT program means a process that begins upon admission to the Oregon State Hospital and that is based on the presumption that with sufficient supports and services, all individuals can live in an integrated community setting. Discharge planning is developed and implemented through a person-centered planning process in which the individual has a primary role and is based on principles of self-determination. Discharge planning teams at OSH include a representative of a community mental health provider from the county where the individual is likely to transition.

~~(445051)~~ "Individual" means any individual person being considered for or receiving services and supports regulated by these rules.

~~(5152)~~ "Informed Consent for Services" means that the service options, risks, and benefits have been explained to the individual and guardian, if applicable, in a manner that they comprehend, and the individual and guardian, if applicable, have consented to the services on, or prior to, the first date of service.

(5253) "Intensive Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment Services" means structured, nonresidential evaluation, treatment, and continued care services for individuals with substance use disorders who need a greater number of therapeutic contacts per week than are provided by traditional outpatient services. Intensive outpatient services may include, but are not limited to, day treatment, correctional day treatment, evening treatment, and partial hospitalization.

(5354) "Intensive ~~Community-based Treatment and Support~~Outpatient Services and Supports (IOSSCTS)" means a specialized set of comprehensive in-home and community-based supports and mental health treatment services, ~~including care coordination as defined in these rules~~, for children that are developed by the child and family team and delivered in the most integrated setting in the community.

(5455) "Interdisciplinary Team (IDT)" means a group of professional and direct care staff which that has primary responsibility for the development of a plan for the care and treatment of an individual patient.

(5456) "Interim Referral and Information Services" means services provided by a substance use disorders treatment provider to individuals on a waiting list, and whose services are funded by the Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment (SAPT) Block Grant, to reduce the adverse health effects of substance use, promote the health of the individual, and reduce the risk of disease transmission.

(555657) "Intern" or "Student" means an individual person who providing es a paid or unpaid program services to complete a credentialed or accredited educational program recognized by the Sstate of Oregon.

(56758) "Juvenile Psychiatric Security Review Board (JPSRB)" means the entity described in ORS 161.385.

(59) "Lethal Means Counseling" means providers implement best practice counseling strategies to help patients at risk for suicide, and their families, reduce access to lethal means, including but not limited to firearms. Best practice programs are available at the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's National Registry of Evidence Based Practices Registry of Evidence Based Programs and Practices and the Suicide Prevention Resource Center best practice registry. has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-023-0110.

(5860) "Level of Care" means the range of available services provided from the most integrated setting to the most restrictive and most intensive in an inpatient setting.

~~(58) "Level of Service Intensity Determination." means the Division approved process by which children and young adults in transition are assessed for ITS and ICTS services.~~



~~(596061)~~ "Licensed Health Care Professional" means a practitioner of the healing arts, acting within the scope of ~~his or her~~their practice under ~~s~~State law, who is licensed by a recognized governing board in Oregon.

~~(6061062)~~ "Licensed Medical Practitioner (LMP)" means an individual ~~person~~ who meets the following minimum qualifications as documented by the Local Mental Health Authority (LMHA) or designee:

- (a) Physician licensed to practice in the State of Oregon; or
- (b) Nurse practitioner licensed to practice in the State of Oregon; or
- (c) Physician's aAssistant licensed to practice in the State of Oregon; and
- (d) Whose training, experience, and competence demonstrate the ability to conduct a mental health assessment and provide medication management;~~;~~
- (e) For ~~IGTS-IOSS~~ and ITS providers, LMP means a board-certified or board-eligible child and adolescent psychiatrist licensed to practice in the State of Oregon.

~~(61) "Life skills training" means training that help individuals develop skills and access resources needed to increase their capacity to be successful and satisfied in the living, working, learning, and social environments of their choice.~~

~~(616263)~~ "Linkage agreement" has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-032-0860.

~~(546264)~~ "Local Mental Health Authority (LMHA)" means one of the following entities:

- (a) The board of county commissioners of one or more counties that establishes or operates a CMHP;
- (b) The tribal council, in the case of a federally recognized tribe of Native Americans that elects to enter into an agreement to provide mental health services; or
- (c) A regional local mental health authority comprised of two or more boards of county commissioners.

~~(56345365)~~ "Mandatory Reporter" means any public or private official, as defined in ORS 419B.005~~(3)~~, who comes in contact with or has reasonable cause to believe that an individual has suffered abuse, or that any individual ~~person~~ with whom the official comes in contact with, has abused the individual. Pursuant to ORS 430.765~~(2)~~ psychiatrists, psychologists, clergy, and attorneys are not mandatory reporters with regard to information received through communications that are privileged under ORS 40.225 to 40.295.

~~(5664556466)~~ "Medicaid" means the federal grant-in-aid program to state governments to provide medical assistance to eligible individuals ~~persons~~, under Title XIX of the Social Security Act.

~~(5765657567)~~ "Medical Director" means a physician licensed to practice medicine in the State of Oregon and ~~who~~ is designated by a substance use disorders treatment program to be responsible for the program's medical services, either as an employee or through a contract.

(~~5866758668~~) "Medical Supervision" means an LMP's review and approval, at least annually, of the medical appropriateness of services and supports identified in the ~~s~~Service ~~p~~Plan for each individual receiving mental health services for one or more continuous years.

(~~5967859769~~) "Medically Appropriate" means services and medical supplies required for prevention, diagnosis, or treatment of a physical or behavioral health condition, or injuries, ~~and which that~~ are:

- (a) Consistent with the symptoms of a health condition or treatment of a health condition;
- (b) Appropriate with regard to standards of good health practice and generally recognized by the relevant scientific community and professional standards of care as effective;
- (c) Not solely for the convenience of an individual or a provider of the service or medical supplies; and
- (d) The most cost effective of the alternative levels of medical services or medical supplies that can be safely provided to an individual.

(70) "Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT)" means the use of medication in combination with counseling and behavioral therapies for the treatment of substance use disorders.

(~~6869871~~) "Mental Health Intern" means an individual ~~person~~ who meets qualifications for QMHA but does not have the necessary graduate degree in psychology, social work, or behavioral science field to meet the educational requirement of QMHP. The individual ~~person~~ must:

- (a) Be currently enrolled in a graduate program for a master's degree in psychology, social work, or in a behavioral science field;
- (b) Have a collaborative educational agreement with the CMHP, or other provider, and the graduate program;
- (c) Work within the scope of ~~his/her~~ practice and competencies identified by the policies and procedures for credentialing of clinical staff as established by ~~the~~ provider; and
- (d) Receive, at minimum, weekly supervision by a qualified clinical supervisor employed by the provider of services.

(67046472) "Mobile Crisis Services" means mental health services for individuals ~~people~~ in crisis, provided by mental health practitioners who respond to behavioral health crises onsite at the location in the community where the crisis arises and who provide a face-to-face therapeutic response. The goal of mobile crisis services is to help an individual resolve a psychiatric crisis in the most integrated setting possible, and to avoid unnecessary hospitalization, inpatient psychiatric treatment, involuntary commitment, and arrest or incarceration.

(6246273) "Mobile Crisis Response Time" means the time from the point when a ~~clinical~~ professional decision is made that a face-to-face intervention is required to ~~the~~ the time ~~when~~ the actual face-to-face intervention takes place in the community. ~~the time from the initial crisis call or notification of the crisis event to the face to face intervention.~~

(~~639263974~~) "Nursing Services" means services that are provided by a registered nurse (RN) or a licensed practical nurse (LPN) within their scope of practice as defined in OAR 851-045-0060.

(~~64703647075~~) "~~Oregon Health Authority~~" means the ~~Oregon Health Authority of the State of Oregon~~[k3].

(~~657146571756~~) "Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment Program" means a program that provides assessment, treatment, and rehabilitation on a regularly scheduled basis or in response to crisis for individuals with alcohol or other drug use disorders and their family members, or significant others.

(~~667256672767~~) "Outpatient Community Mental Health Services and Supports" means all outpatient mental health services and supports provided to children, youth, and adults.

(~~6773766773778~~) "Outpatient Problem Gambling Treatment Services" means all outpatient treatment services and supports provided to individuals with gambling related problems and their families.

(~~7769746974789~~) "Outreach" means the delivery of behavioral health services, referral services, and case management services in non-traditional settings, such as, but not limited to, the individual's residence, shelters, streets, jails, transitional housing sites, drop-in centers, single room occupancy hotels, child welfare settings, educational settings, or medical settings. It also means refers to attempts made to engage or re-engage an individual in services by such means as letters or telephone calls.

(~~78687568757980~~) "Peer" means any individual person supporting an individual, or the individual's a family member of an individual, who has similar life experience, either as a current or former recipient of addictions or mental health services, or as a family member of an individual who is a current or former recipient of addictions or mental health services.

(~~7791616804~~) "Peer Delivered Services" means an array of agency or community-based services and supports provided by peer support specialists and peer wellness specialists, to individuals or family members with similar lived experience, that are designed to support the needs of individuals and families as applicable. ~~community-based services and supports provided by peers, and peer support specialists, to individuals or family members with similar lived experience. These services are intended to support individuals and families to engage individuals in ongoing treatment and to live successfully in the community. an array of agency or community-based services and supports provided by peers, and Peer support Wellness Specialists, to individuals or family members with similar lived experience, that are designed to support the needs of individuals and families as applicable.~~

(~~6977806977812~~) "Peer Support Specialist" means an individual person providing peer delivered services to an individual or family member with similar life experience, under the supervision of a qualified cClinical sSupervisor and a qualified pPeer dDelivered sServices sSupervisor. A pPeer sSupport sSpecialist must be certified by the Oregon Health Authority's Office of Equity and Inclusion as complete a Division approved training program as required by OAR 410-180-0300 to 0380 and be:

(a) A self-identified person individual currently or formerly receiving addictions or mental health services; or

(b) A self-identified ~~person~~ individual in recovery from an ~~substance use or gambling addiction~~ disorder, who meets the abstinence requirements for recovering staff in ~~substance use disorders~~ alcohol or ~~gambling other drug~~ treatment programs; or

(c) A self-identified individual in recovery from problem gambling; or

(ed) A ~~The~~ family member of an individual who is a currently or formerly recipient ~~receiving~~ of addictions or mental health services.

~~(8234)~~ “Peer Support and Peer Wellness Specialist Supervision” means co-supervision by a certified PSS or PWS with at least one year of experience as a PSS or PWS in behavioral health services with a qualified ~~c~~Clinical ~~s~~Supervisor. The supports provided include guidance in the unique discipline of ~~p~~Peer ~~D~~elivered ~~s~~Services and the roles of ~~p~~Peer ~~s~~Support ~~s~~pecialists and ~~p~~Peer ~~w~~Wellness ~~s~~pecialists.

~~(8342)~~ “Peer Delivered Services Supervisor” means an individual ~~person~~ qualified to evaluate and guide PSSs and PWSs in the delivery of peer delivered services and supports. This individual ~~person~~ shall be a certified PSS/PWS with at least one years’ experience as a PSS or PWS.

~~(70370845)~~ “Peer Wellness Specialist” means an individual who is responsible for assessing ~~mental health~~ service and support needs of the individual’s peers through community outreach, assisting individuals with access to available services and resources, addressing barriers to services, and providing education and information about available resources and mental health issues in order to reduce stigmas and discrimination toward consumers of mental health services and to provide direct services to assist individuals in creating and maintaining recovery, health, and wellness. ~~(ORS 414.025)~~ A ~~p~~Peer ~~w~~Wellness ~~s~~Specialist must be certified by the ~~OHA~~Authority’s ~~-~~Office of Equity and Inclusion as required by OAR 410-180-0300 to 0380 and be:

(a) A self-identified ~~person~~ individual currently or formerly receiving mental health services; or

(b) A self-identified ~~person~~ individual in recovery from a substance use or gambling disorder, who meets the abstinence requirements for recovering staff in substance use disorders or gambling treatment programs; or

~~(c) A family member of an individual who is a current or former recipient of addictions or mental health services and substance use disorder service and support needs of a member of a coordinated care organization through community outreach, assisting members with access to available services and resources, addressing barriers to services and providing education and information about available resources for individuals with mental health or substance use disorders in order to reduce stigma and discrimination toward consumers of mental health and substance use disorder services and to assist the member in creating and maintaining recovery, health and wellness.~~

~~(7184718856)~~ “Problem Gambling Treatment Staff” means an ~~person~~ individual certified or licensed by a health or allied provider agency to provide problem gambling treatment services that include assessment, development of a ~~s~~Service ~~p~~Plan, ~~and~~ group and family counseling.



(~~7295729867~~) "Program" means a particular type or level of service that is organizationally distinct.

(~~738067380878~~) "Program Administrator" or "Program Director" means an person~~individual~~ with appropriate professional qualifications and experience, who is designated to manage the operation of a program.

(~~748177481889~~) "Program Staff" means an employee or person~~individual~~ who, by contract with the program, provides a service and who has the applicable competencies, qualifications, or certification, required in this rule to provide the service.

(~~8875827582890~~) "Provider" means an person~~individual~~, organizational provider, or Community Mental Health Program as designated under ORS 430.637(b) that holds a current CCertificate to provide outpatient behavioral health treatment or prevention services pursuant to these and an-other applicable service delivery rules.

(~~8976837683904~~) "Psychiatric Security Review Board (PSRB)" means the entity described in ORS 161.295 through 161.400.

(~~9077847784912~~) "Psychiatrist" means a physician licensed pursuant to ORS 677.010 to 677.228 and 677.410 to 677.450 by the Board of Medical Examiners for the State of Oregon and who has completed an approved residency training program in psychiatry.

~~(85) "Psychiatry services" for the purposes of the ACT program in Oregon means the prescribing and/or administering and reviewing of medications and their side effects, includes both pharmacological management as well as supports and training to the individual. Psychiatry services must be provided by a psychiatrist or a psychiatric nurse practitioner who is licensed by the Oregon Medical Board.~~

(~~178867886923~~) "Psychologist" means a psychologist licensed by the Oregon Board of Psychologist Examiners.

(~~279877987934~~) "Publicly Funded" means financial support, in part or in full, with revenue generated by a local, state, or federal government.

(~~8083808945~~) "Qualified Mental Health Associate (QMHA)" means an person~~individual~~ delivering services under the direct supervision of a QMHP who meets the minimum qualifications as authorized by the LMHA, or designee, and specified in OAR 309-019-0125.

(~~8194819956~~) "Qualified Mental Health Professional (QMHP)" means a LMP or any other individual ~~person~~ meeting the minimum qualifications as authorized by the LMHA, or designee, and specified in OAR 309-019-0125.

(~~829058290967~~) "Qualified Person" means an person~~individual~~ who is a QMHP, or a QMHA, and is identified by the PSRB and JPSRB in its Conditional Release Order. This person~~individual~~ is designated by the provider to deliver or arrange and monitor the provision of the reports and services required by the Conditional Release Order.

(~~839168391978~~) "Quality Assessment and Performance Improvement" means the structured, internal monitoring and evaluation of services to improve processes, service delivery, and service outcomes.

(~~849278492989~~) "Recovery" means a process of healing and transformation for a person an individual to achieve full human potential and personhood in leading a meaningful life in communities of his or her their choice.

(~~88593859310099~~) "Representative" means an person an individual who acts on behalf of an individual, at the individual's request, with respect to a grievance, including, but not limited to, a relative, friend, employee of the Division, attorney, or legal guardian.

(~~9869486941004~~) "Resilience" means the universal capacity that an person an individual uses to prevent, minimize, or overcome the effects of adversity. Resilience reflects an person individual's strengths as protective factors and assets for positive development.

(~~879510087951012~~) "Respite Care" means planned and emergency supports designed to provide temporary relief from care giving to maintain a stable and safe living environment. Respite care may can be provided in or out of the home. Respite care includes supervision and behavior support consistent with the strategies specified in the sService Pplan.

(~~41023~~) "Safety Plan" ~~means a patient directed document developed through a collaborative process in which the provider assists the patient in listing strategies for the patient to use when suicide ideation is elevated or after a suicide attempt. A safety plan template is available from the Suicide Prevention Resource Center at <http://www.sprc.org/resources-programs/calm-counseling-access-lethal-means-0>.has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-023-0110.~~

(~~2889688961034~~) "Screening" means the process to determine whether the individual needs further assessment to identify circumstances requiring referrals or additional services and supports.

(~~3899789971045~~) "Screening Specialist" means an person an individual who possesses valid certification issued by the Division to conduct DUII evaluations.

(~~90849081056~~) "Service Plan" means a comprehensive plan for services and supports provided to or coordinated for an individual and his or her their family, as applicable, that is reflective of the assessment and the intended outcomes of service.

(~~91959191067~~) "Service Note" means the written record of services and supports provided, including documentation of progress toward intended outcomes, consistent with the timelines stated in the sService Pplan.

(~~921006921001078~~) "Service Record" means the documentation, written or electronic, regarding an individual and resulting from entry, assessment, orientation, services and supports planning, services and supports provided, and transfer.

(~~931017931011089~~) "Services" means those activities and treatments described in the sService Pplan that are intended to assist the individual's transition to recovery from a substance use disorder, problem gambling disorder, or mental health condition, and to promote resiliency, and rehabilitative and functional individual and family outcomes.

(~~9410289410210910~~) "Signature" means any written or electronic means of entering the name, date of authentication, and credentials of the ~~person~~ individual providing a specific service or the ~~person~~ individual authorizing services and supports. Signature also means any written or electronic means of entering the name and date of authentication of the individual receiving services, the guardian of the individual receiving services, or any authorized representative of the individual receiving services.

(~~995103951031104~~) "Skills Training" means providing information and training to individuals and families designed to assist with the development of skills in areas including, but not limited to, anger management, stress reduction, conflict resolution, self-esteem, parent-child interactions, peer relations, drug and alcohol awareness, behavior support, symptom management, accessing community services, and daily living.

(~~1096104961041112~~) "Substance Abuse Prevention and Treatment Block Grant" or "SAPT Block Grant" means the federal block grants for prevention and treatment of substance abuse under Public Law 102-321 (31 U.S.C. 7301-7305) and the regulations published in Title 45 Part 96 of the Code of Federal Regulations.

(~~197105971051123~~) "Substance Use Disorders" means disorders related to the taking of a drug of abuse including alcohol, to the side effects of a medication, and to a toxin exposure. The disorders include substance use disorders such as substance dependence and substance abuse, and substance-induced disorders, including substance intoxication, withdrawal, delirium, and dementia, ~~and includes but is not limited to as well as~~ substance induced psychotic disorder, mood disorder, etc., as defined in DSM criteria.

(~~210986109861134~~) "Substance Use Disorders Treatment and Recovery Services" means outpatient, intensive outpatient, and residential services and supports for individuals with substance use disorders.

(~~399107991071145~~) "Substance Use Disorders Treatment Staff" means an ~~an~~ person individual certified or licensed by a health or allied provider agency to provide substance use disorders treatment services that include assessment, development of a sService Plan, and individual, group, and family counseling.

(~~140080081156~~) "Successful DUII Completion" means that the DUII program has documented in its records that for the period of service deemed necessary by the program, the individual has:

- (a) Met the completion criteria approved by the Division;
- (b) Met the terms of the fee agreement between the provider and the individual; and
- (c) Demonstrated 90 days of continuous abstinence prior to completion.

~~(109) "Supported Employment Services" are individualized services that assist individuals to obtain and maintain integrated, paid, competitive employment. Supported employment services are provided in a manner that seeks to allow individuals to work the maximum number of hours consistent with their preferences, interests and abilities and are individually planned, based on person-centered planning principles and evidence-based practices.~~

~~(51167) "Suicide Risk Assessment" means a best practice assessment to ascertain an individual's risk for suicide as listed on the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's National Registry of Evidence Based Practices and Programs or the Suicide Prevention Resource Center best practice registry supported by research to determine an individual's risk for suicide.~~

~~(161011011178) "Supports" means activities, referrals, and supportive relationships designed to enhance the services delivered to individuals and families for the purpose of facilitating progress toward intended outcomes.~~

~~(111) "Symptom management" means to prevent or treat as early as possible the symptoms of a disease, side effects caused by treatment of a disease, and psychological, social, and spiritual problems related to a disease or its treatment.~~

~~(112) "Time-unlimited services" means services are provided not on the basis of predetermined timelines but as long as they are medically appropriate.~~

~~(172132131189) "Transfer" means the process of assisting an individual to transition from the current services to the next appropriate setting or level of care.~~

~~(1831431411920) "Trauma Informed Services" means services that are reflective of the consideration and evaluation of the role that trauma plays in the lives of people seeking mental health and addictions services, including recognition of the traumatic effect of misdiagnosis and coercive treatment. Services are responsive to the vulnerabilities of trauma survivors and are delivered in a way that avoids inadvertent re-traumatization and facilitates individual direction of services.~~

~~(1904150415120) "Treatment" means the planned, medically appropriate, individualized program of medical, psychological, and rehabilitative procedures, experiences, and activities designed to remediate symptoms of a DSM diagnosis, that are included in the Service Plan.~~

~~(301212) "Triage" means a classification process to determine priority needs.~~

~~(120051605161223) "Urinalysis Test" means an initial test and, if positive, a confirmatory test:~~

~~(a) An initial test must include, at a minimum, a sensitive, rapid, and inexpensive immunoassay screen to eliminate "true negative" specimens from further consideration.~~

~~(b) A confirmatory test is a second analytical procedure used to identify the presence of a specific drug or metabolite in a urine specimen. The confirmatory test must be by a different analytical method from that of the initial test to ensure reliability and accuracy.~~

~~(c) All urinalysis tests must be performed by laboratories meeting the requirements of OAR 333-024-0305 through 333-024-0365.~~



(11061706171234) "Urgent" means the onset of symptoms requiring attention within 48 hours to prevent a serious deterioration in an individual's mental or physical health or threat to safety.

(12071807181245) "Variance" means an exception from a provision of these rules, granted in writing by the Division pursuant to the process regulated by OAR 309-008-1600, upon written application from the provider. Duration of a variance is determined on a case-by-case basis.

~~(119) "Vocational services" for the purposes of the ACT program in Oregon means employment support services that will lead to competitive integrated employment. The Division encourages the use of fidelity IPS Supported Employment for providing vocational services within the ACT program.~~

(13082008201256) "Volunteer" means an individual who provides a program service or who takes part in a program service and who is not an employee of the program and is not paid for services. The services must be non-clinical unless the individual has the required credentials to provide a clinical service.

~~(121) "Warm Handoff" means the process of transferring an individual from one provider to another, prior to discharge, which includes face-to-face meeting(s) with an individual, and which coordinates the transfer of responsibility for the individual's ongoing care and continuing treatment and services. A warm handoff shall either:~~

~~(a) Include a face-to-face meeting with the community provider and the individual, and if possible, hospital staff; or~~

~~(b) Provide a transitional team to support the individual, serve as a bridge between the hospital and the community provider, and ensure that the individual connects with the community provider. For warm handoffs under subparagraph (b), the transitional team shall meet face to face with the individual, and if possible, with hospital staff, prior to discharge. Face-to-face in person meetings are preferable for warm handoffs. However, a face-to-face meeting may be accomplished through technological solutions that provide two-way video-like communication on a secure line ("telehealth"), when either distance is a barrier to an in person meeting or individualized clinical criteria support the use of telehealth.~~

(41267) "Warm Handoff" means the process of transferring an individual from one provider to another, prior to discharge from an acute care psychiatric facility, which includes face-to-face meeting(s) with an individual, and which coordinates the transfer of responsibility for the individual's ongoing care and continuing treatment and services. A warm handoff shall either

(a) Include a face-to-face meeting with the community provider and the individual, and if possible, hospital staff, or

(b) Provide a transitional team to support the individual, serve as a bridge between the hospital and the community provider, and ensure that the individual connects with the community provider.

For warm handoffs under subparagraph (b), the transitional team shall meet face-to-face with the individual, and if possible, with hospital staff, prior to discharge. Face-to-face in

~~person meetings are preferable for warm handoffs. However, a face-to-face meeting may be accomplished through technological solutions that provide two-way video-like communication on a secure line (“telehealth”), when either distance is a barrier to an in person meeting or individualized clinical criteria support the use of telehealth. has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-032-0860.~~

~~(15092209221278)~~ “Wellness” means an approach to healthcare that emphasizes good physical and mental health, preventing illness, and prolonging life.

~~(16101101289)~~ “Wraparound” means a high fidelity model of team based intensive care coordination for children and their families based on National Wraparound Initiative values and principles.

~~(17110231102312930)~~ “Young Adult in Transition” means an individual who is developmentally transitioning into independence, sometime between the ages of 14 and 25.

~~(18121121304)~~ “Youth Support Specialist” means an individual who meets qualification criteria under OAR 415-180.

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 270, 430.010, 430.205- 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168~~

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 – 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 – 161.400, 413.520 – 413.522, 430.010, 430.205- 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 – 813.052 & 813.200 – 813.270~~

## **309-019-0110**

### **Provider Policies**

(1) ~~Personnel Policies:~~ All providers must develop and implement written personnel policies and specific procedures, compliant with these rules ~~and other applicable rules or regulatory mandates,~~ including:

(a) Personnel Qualifications and Credentialing;

(b) Mandatory abuse reporting, compliant with ORS 430.735-430.768 and OAR 943-045-0250 through 943-045-0370;

(c) Criminal Records Checks, compliant with ORS 181.533 through 181.575 and ~~943407-007-00010~~ through ~~0501407-007-0370~~; and

(d) Fraud, waste, and abuse in ~~f~~Federal Medicaid and Medicare programs compliant with OAR 410-120-1380 and 410-120-1510.

(2) ~~Service Delivery Policies~~: All providers must develop and implement written service delivery policies and specific procedures, compliant with these rules:

(a) Service delivery policies must be available to individuals and family members upon request; and

(b) Service delivery policies and procedures must include, at a minimum:

(A) Fee agreements;

(B) Confidentiality and compliance with HIPAA, Federal Confidentiality Regulations (42 CFR, Part 2), and ~~s~~State confidentiality regulations as specified in ORS 179.505 and 192.518 through 192.530;

(C) Compliance with Title 2 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA);

(D) Grievances and ~~a~~Appeals;

(E) Individual ~~R~~rights;

(F) Quality ~~a~~Assessment and ~~p~~Performance ~~i~~Improvement;

(G) Trauma ~~i~~nformed ~~s~~Service ~~d~~elivery, consistent with the ~~HSDAMH~~ Trauma Informed Services Policy;

(H) Provision of culturally and linguistically appropriate services;

~~(I) Linkage agreements, compliant with OAR 309-032-0870, with regional acute care psychiatric facilities;~~

~~(J) Crisis ~~p~~Prevention and ~~r~~Response, including suicide risk assessment, safety planning, and lethal means counseling; and~~

~~(K) Incident ~~r~~Reporting; -and~~

~~(L) Peer ~~d~~elivered ~~s~~ervices.~~

(3) ~~Behavior Support Policies~~: Providers of ECS ~~s~~Services must develop behavior support policies consistent with OAR 309-019-0155(3), ~~of these rules.~~

(4) The provider's policies and procedures must:

(a) Prohibit required titration of medications prescribed for the treatment of ~~o~~Opioid dependence;

(b) Allow continued use of medications prescribed for ~~o~~Opioid dependence, based on individual choice and physician recommendation; and

(c) Prohibit transfer of individuals who are prescribed medication for the treatment of opioid dependence, based solely on the ~~person~~individual's initial or continued use of the medication.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 9, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

## 309-019-0115

### Individual Rights

(1) In addition to all applicable statutory and constitutional rights, every individual receiving services has the right to:

(a) Choose from available services and supports, ~~those~~ that are consistent with the sService pPlan, culturally competent, provided in the most integrated setting in the community and under conditions that are least restrictive to the individual's liberty, that are least intrusive to the individual, and that provide for the greatest degree of independence;

(b) Be treated with dignity and respect;

~~(c) Have access to Peer Delivered Services;~~

(c) Participate in the development of a written sService pPlan, receive services consistent with that plan and participate in periodic review and reassessment of service and support needs, assist in the development of the plan, and ~~to~~ receive a copy of the written sService pPlan;

(d) Have all services explained, including expected outcomes and possible risks;

(e) Confidentiality, and the right to consent to disclosure in accordance with ORS 107.154, 179.505, 179.507, 192.515, 192.507, 42 CFR Part 2 and 45 CFR Part 205.50;

(f) Give informed consent in writing prior to the start of services, except in a medical emergency or as otherwise permitted by law. Minor children may give informed consent to services in the following circumstances:

(A) Under age 18 and lawfully married;

(B) Age 16 or older and legally emancipated by the court; or

(C) Age 14 or older for outpatient services only. For purposes of informed consent, outpatient service does not include service provided in residential programs or in day or partial hospitalization programs;

(g) Inspect their sService rRecord in accordance with ORS 179.505;

(h) Refuse participation in experimentation;

- (i) Receive medication specific to the individual's diagnosed clinical needs, including medications used to treat opioid dependence;
- (j) Receive prior notice of transfer, unless the circumstances necessitating transfer pose a threat to health and safety;
- (k) Be free from abuse or neglect and to report any incident of abuse or neglect without being subject to retaliation;
- (~~l~~) Have religious freedom;
- (m) Be free from seclusion and restraint;
- (n) Be informed at the start of services, and periodically thereafter, of the rights guaranteed by this rule;
- (o) Be informed of the policies and procedures, service agreements and fees applicable to the services provided, and to have a custodial parent, guardian, or representative, assist with understanding any information presented;
- (p) Be informed of suicide risk and receive best practice lethal means counseling and a safety plan, including methods for the individual, family, and /guardian to mitigate risk over time;
- (~~q~~) Have family and guardian involvement in service planning and delivery;
- (~~r~~) Make a Ddeclaration for ~~mental~~ mMental hHealth ~~t~~Treatment, when legally an adult;
- (~~s~~) File grievances, including appealing decisions resulting from the grievance;
- (~~t~~) Exercise all rights set forth in ORS 109.610 through 109.697 if the individual is a child, as defined by these rules;
- (~~u~~) Exercise all rights set forth in ORS 426.385 if the individual is committed to the Authority; and
- (~~v~~) Exercise all rights described in this rule without any form of reprisal or punishment.

(2) ~~Notification of Rights:~~ The provider must give to the individual and, if appropriate, the guardian, a document that describes the applicable individual's rights as follows:

- (a) Information given to the individual must be in written form or, upon request, in an alternative format or language appropriate to the individual's need;
- (b) The rights, and how to exercise them, must be explained to the individual, and if applicable appropriate, to her or his guardian; and
- (c) Individual rights must be posted in writing in a common area.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 426.495, 430.640, 443.450



Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380- 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380- 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

## Personnel

### 309-019-0120

#### Licensing and Credentialing

Program staff in the following positions must meet applicable credentialing or licensing standards, including those set forth ~~outlined~~ in these rules:

(1) Substance Use Disorders Treatment Staff.;

(2) Clinical Supervisors.;

(3) LMPs.;

(4) Medical Directors.;

(5) Peer Support Specialists.;

(6) Peer Wellness Specialists.;

(7) Peer Delivered Services Supervisor;

~~(68)~~ Problem Gambling Treatment Staff.;

~~(79)~~ QMHAs. and

~~(810)~~ QMHPs.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 430.010, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.256, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### 309-019-0125

## Specific Staff Qualifications and Competencies

(1) Program **a**Administrators or **P**rogram **D**irectors must demonstrate competence in leadership, program planning and budgeting, fiscal management, supervision of program staff, personnel management, program staff performance assessment, use of data, reporting, program evaluation, quality assurance, and developing and coordinating community resources.

(2) Clinical **S**upervisors in all programs must demonstrate competence in leadership, wellness, oversight and evaluation of services, staff development, service planning, case management and coordination, utilization of community resources, group, family, and individual therapy or counseling; best practices for suicide risk assessment, lethal means counseling, and safety planning; documentation and rationale for services to promote intended outcomes; and implementation of all provider policies.

(3) Clinical supervisors in mental health programs must meet QMHP requirements and have completed two years of post-graduate clinical experience in a mental health treatment setting.

(4) Clinical **S**upervisors in substance use disorders treatment programs must be certified or licensed by a health or allied provider agency as follows:

(a) For supervisors holding a certification or license in addiction counseling, qualifications for the certificate or license must have included at least:

(A) 4000 hours of supervised experience in substance use counseling;

(B) 300 contact hours of education and training in substance use related subjects; and

(C) Successful completion of a written objective examination or portfolio review by the certifying body.

(b) For supervisors holding a health or allied provider license, the license or registration must have been issued by one of the following state bodies and the supervisor must possess documentation of at least 120 contact hours of academic or continuing professional education in the treatment of substance use disorders:

(A) Board of Medical Examiners;

(B) Board of Psychologist Examiners;

(C) Board of Licensed Social Workers;

(D) Board of Licensed Professional Counselors and Therapists; or

(E) Board of Nursing.

(c) Additionally, clinical supervisors in substance use disorders programs must have one of the following qualifications:

(A) Five years of paid full-time experience in the field of substance use disorders counseling; or

(B) A Bachelor's degree and four years of paid full-time experience in the social services field, with a minimum of two years of direct substance use disorders counseling experience; or

(C) A Master's degree and three years of paid full-time experience in the social services field with a minimum of two years of direct substance use disorders counseling experience.

(5) Clinical Supervisors in problem gambling treatment programs must meet the requirements for clinical supervisors in either mental health or substance use disorders treatment programs, and have completed ~~ten~~40 hours of gambling specific training within two years of designation as a problem gambling services supervisor.

(6) Substance use disorders treatment staff must:

(a) Demonstrate competence in treatment of substance-use disorders including individual assessment and individual, group, family, and other counseling techniques, program policies and procedures for service delivery and documentation, suicide risk associated with problem gambling, and identification, implementation, and coordination of services identified to facilitate intended outcomes; and

(b) Be certified or licensed by a health or allied provider agency, as defined in these rules, to provide addiction treatment within two years of the first hire date and must make application for certification no later than six months following that date. The two years is not renewable if the ~~person~~individual ends employment with a provider and becomes re-employed with another provider.

(c) For treatment staff holding certification in addiction counseling, qualifications for the certificate must have included at least:

(A) 750 hours of supervised experience in substance use counseling;

(B) 150 contact hours of education and training in substance use related subjects; and

(C) Successful completion of a written objective examination or portfolio review by the certifying body.

(d) For treatment staff holding a health or allied provider license, the license or registration must have been issued by one of the following state bodies, and the ~~person~~individual must possess documentation of at least 60 contact hours of academic or continuing professional education in substance use disorders treatment:

(A) Board of Medical Examiners;

(B) Board of Psychologist Examiners;

(C) Board of Licensed Social Workers;

(D) Board of Licensed Professional Counselors and Therapists; or

(E) Board of Nursing.

(7) Problem Gambling treatment staff must:

(a) Demonstrate competence in treatment of problem gambling including individual assessment and individual, group, family, and other counseling techniques, program policies and procedures for service delivery and documentation, and identification, implementation and coordination of services identified to facilitate intended outcomes;

(b) Be certified or licensed by a health or allied provider agency, as defined in these rules, to provide problem gambling treatment within two years of the first hire date and must make application for certification no later than six months following that date. The two years is not renewable if the ~~person~~individual ends employment with a provider and becomes re-employed with another provider;

(c) For treatment staff holding certification in problem gambling counseling, qualifications for the certificate must have included at least:

(A) 500 hours of supervised experience in problem gambling counseling;

(B) 60 contact hours of education and training in problem gambling related subjects; and

(C) Successful completion of a written objective examination or portfolio review by the certifying body.

(d) For treatment staff holding a health or allied provider license, the license or registration must have been issued by one of the following state bodies, and the ~~person~~individual must possess documentation of at least 60 contact hours of academic or continuing professional education in problem gambling treatment:

(A) Board of Medical Examiners;

(B) Board of Psychologist Examiners;

(C) Board of Licensed Social Workers;

(D) Board of Licensed Professional Counselors and Therapists; or

(E) Board of Nursing.

(8) QMHAs must demonstrate the ability to communicate effectively; understand mental health assessment, treatment, and service terminology and as well as suicide risk assessment, lethal means counseling, and safety planning; and apply each of these concepts, implement skills development strategies, and identify, implement, and coordinate the services and supports identified in a Service Plan. In addition, QMHAs must also meet the following minimum qualifications:

(a) Bachelor's degree in a behavioral science field; or

(b) A combination of at least three years of relevant work, education, training, or experience; or

(c) A qualified Mental Health Intern, as defined in OAR 309-019-0105(61).

(9) QMHPs must demonstrate the ability to conduct an assessment, including identifying precipitating events; gathering histories of mental and physical health, substance use, past

mental health services, and criminal justice contacts; assessing family, cultural, social, and work relationships; and conducting a mental status examination; completing a DSM diagnosis; conducting best practice suicide risk assessments, lethal means counseling, and safety planning; writing and supervising the implementation of a Service Plan; and providing individual, family, or group therapy within the scope of their training. In addition, QMHPs must also meet the following minimum qualifications:

- (a) Bachelor's degree in nursing and licensed by the State of Oregon;
- (b) Bachelor's degree in occupational therapy and licensed by the State of Oregon;
- (c) Graduate degree in psychology;
- (d) Graduate degree in social work;
- (e) Graduate degree in recreational, art, or music therapy;
- (f) Graduate degree in a behavioral science field; or
- (g) A qualified Mental Health Intern, as defined in 309-019-0105(61).

(10) An individual with experience working in the peer profession as a Peer Support or Peer Wellness Specialist shall:

(a) Demonstrate knowledge of and competent implementation of the Peer Delivered Services discipline;

(b) Be able to support PSS and PWS in providing services and with integrity to the PDS profession.

~~(10) Peer support specialists must demonstrate knowledge of approaches to support others in recovery and resiliency, and demonstrate efforts at self-directed recovery.~~

(11) Peer Support Specialists and Peer Wellness Specialists shall demonstrate knowledge of the peer support discipline through active credentialing/certification, continuing and continuing education. They shall and by offering approaches to support others in their recovery or /resiliency and .They should shall also and show -demonstrate efforts at sharing and or demonstrating personal life experience and or tools of self-directed recovery and /resiliency when sought by individuals receiving PDS or as appropriate.

~~(11) Recovering Staff: Program staff, contractors, volunteers, and interns recovering from a substance use or problem gambling disorders disorder, providing treatment services or peer support services in substance use disorders treatment programs, must be able to document continuous abstinence under independent living conditions or recovery housing for the immediate past two years.~~ (12) Peer Delivered Services provided by individuals certified as defined in OAR 415-180-0312.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168



~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.256, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### **309-019-0130**

#### **Personnel Documentation, Training, and Supervision**

(1) Providers must maintain personnel records for each program staff ~~which~~that contains all of the following documentation:

(a) ~~When~~re required, verification of a criminal record check consistent with OAR ~~943407-007-0001 through 0501007-0000 through 407-007-0370~~;

(b) A current job description that includes applicable competencies;

(c) Copies of relevant licensure or certification, diploma, or certified transcripts from an accredited college, indicating that the program staff meets applicable qualifications;

(d) Periodic performance appraisals;

(e) Staff orientation documentation; and

(f) Disciplinary documentation;

(g) Documentation of trainings required by this or other applicable rules; and

(h) Documentation of clinical and non-clinical supervision. Documentation must shall include: the date supervision took place, the amount of supervision time, and a brief description of relevant topics discussed.

(2) Providers utilizing contractors, interns, or volunteers must maintain the following documentation, as applicable:

(a) A contract or written agreement;

(b) A signed confidentiality agreement;

(c) Orientation documentation; and

(d) For subject individuals, verification of a criminal records check consistent with OAR ~~943-007-0001 through 0501.~~

~~407-007-0000 through 407-007-0370.~~

(3) ~~Training:~~ Providers ~~must~~shall ensure that program staff receives training applicable to the specific population for whom services are planned, delivered, or supervised. ~~as follows:~~

~~(a) Orientation training:~~ The program must document appropriate orientation ~~training~~ for each program staff, or ~~person~~individual providing services, within 30 days of the hire date.

At minimum, training and orientation training for all program staff must include, but not be limited to:

(A) A review of crisis prevention and response procedures;

(b) A review of best practice suicide risk assessment, lethal means counseling, and safety planning;

(c) A review of emergency evacuation procedures;

(d) A review of program policies and procedures;

(e) A review of rights for individuals receiving services and supports;

(f) Mandatory abuse reporting procedures;

(g) HIPAA, and Fraud, Waste and Abuse;

(h) Care Coordination, including but not limited to a warm handoff, compliant with OAR 309-032-0870, including a warm handoff; Coordination;

(i) For ACT Services, (G) Planning and implementing a warm handoff, compliant with OAR 309-032-0870; and

(j) For Enhanced Care Services, positive behavior support training.

(k) Declaration for Mental Health Treatment.

(4) Peer-Delivered Services Person/Individuals providing direct services must receive supervision by a qualified clinical supervisor. PSSs and PWSs must receive co-supervision by a qualified clinical supervisor and qualified PDS-Certified Peer Support Specialist PDS Supervisor-supervisor. when supervision involves a PSS or PWS, as defined in these rules, The supervision must be related to the development and implementation and outcome of services as relevant to the that-specific discipline receiving the supervision.:

(a) Clinical supervision must be provided to assist program staff and volunteers to increase their skills within their discipline, improve quality of services to individuals, and supervise program staff and volunteers' compliance with program policies and procedures. including: Clinical Supervision: Persons providing direct services must receive supervision by a qualified Clinical Supervisor, as defined in these rules, related to the development, implementation and outcome of services.

(a) Clinical supervision must be provided to assist program staff and volunteers to increase their skills, improve quality of services to individuals, and supervise program staff and volunteers' compliance with program policies and procedures, including:

(b) Documentation of two hours per month of clinical supervision for each person/individual supervised. The two hours must include one hour of individual face-to-face contact for each person/individual supervised, or a proportional level of supervision for part-time program staff. Individual face-to-face contact may include real time, two-way audio visual conferencing;

(c) Documentation of two hours of quarterly supervision for program staff holding a health or allied provider license, including at least one hour of individual face-to-face contact for each ~~person~~individual supervised; or

(d) Documentation of weekly supervision for program staff meeting the definition of mMental hHealth iIntern;

(e) Documentation of two hours a month of co-supervision by a qualified cClinical sSupervisor and a qualified PDS PDS sSupervisor for pPeer sSupport and pPeer wWellness sSpecialists. The two hours must include one hour of individual face-to-face contact for each personindividual supervised; or a proportional level of supervision for part-time program staff. Individual face-to-face contact may include real time, two-way audiovisual conferencing.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.256, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

## **Service Delivery and Documentation Standards**

### **309-019-0135**

#### **Entry and Assessment**

(1) ~~Entry Process:~~ The program must utilize an entry procedure which that at minimum shall will to ensure the provision and documentation of the following:

(a) Individuals must be considered for entry without regard to race, ethnicity, gender, gender identity, gender expression presentation, sexual orientation, religion, creed, national origin, age (except when program eligibility is restricted to children, adults, or older adults), familial status, marital status, source of income, and disability;

(b) The provider must prohibit the denial of entry to individuals who are prescribed medication to treat Opioid dependence;

~~(bc)~~ Individuals must receive services in the most timely manner feasible consistent with the presenting circumstances;

~~(ed)~~ Written voluntary informed consent for services must be obtained from the individual or guardian, ~~if applicable,~~ prior to the start of services. If ~~such~~ consent is not obtained, the reason must be documented and further attempts to obtain informed consent must be made as appropriate;

~~(ee)~~ The provider must develop and maintain adequate clinical records and other documentation for each individual served which that supports demonstrates the specific

supports, care, items, or services for which payment has been requested, including documentation of a suicide risk assessment, lethal means counseling, and a safety plan.

(ef) The provider must report the entry of all individuals on the mandated state data system.

(fg) In accordance with ORS 179.505 and HIPAA, an authorization for the release of information must be obtained for any confidential information concerning the individual being considered for, or receiving, services.

(gh) Orientation: At the time of entry, the program must offer to the individual and guardian, if applicable, written program orientation information. The written information must be in a language understood by the individual and must include:

(A) An opportunity to complete a Declaration for Mental Health Treatment with the individual's participation and informed consent;

(B) A description of individual rights consistent with these rules;

(C) Policy concerning grievances and appeals consistent with these rules to include an example grievance form. ~~Policies and specific procedures concerning grievances including:~~

~~(i) An example grievance form;~~

~~(ii) Grievance appeal processes; and~~

~~(iii) Expedited grievance processes.~~

(D) Notice of privacy practices; and

(E) An opportunity to register to vote.

(2) Entry Priority: Entry of individuals whose services are funded by the SAPT Block Grant, must be prioritized in the following order:

(Aa) Women who are pregnant and using substances intravenously;

(Bb) Women who are pregnant;

(Cc) Individuals who are using substances intravenously; and

(Dd) Women with dependent children.

(3) Assessment:

(a) At the time of entry, an assessment must be completed, including a best practice suicide risk assessment.

(b) The assessment must be typed legible and completed by qualified program staff as follows:

(A) A QMHP in mental health programs. A QMHA may assist in the gathering and compiling of information to be included in the assessment;

(B) Supervisory or treatment staff in substance use disorders treatment programs; and

(C) Supervisory or treatment staff in problem gambling treatment programs.

(c) Each assessment must include sufficient information and documentation to justify the presence of a diagnosis that is the medically appropriate reason for services;

(d) For Substance Use Disorders services, each assessment must be consistent with the dimensions described in the ASAM PPC, and must document a diagnosis and level of care determination consistent with the DSM and ASAM PPC;

(e) When the assessment process determines the presence of co-occurring substance use and mental health disorders, or any significant risk to health and safety, all providers must document referral for further assessment, planning, and intervention from an appropriate professional, either with the same provider or with a collaborative community provider;

(ef) Providers must periodically update assessments, including suicide risk assessments, as applicable, when there are changes in clinical circumstances or risk factors for suicide; and

(gf) Any individual continuing to receive mental health services for one or more continuous years, must receive an annual assessment, including a suicide risk assessment, by a QMHP.

(4) In addition to the requirements set forth in by OAR 309-019-0135(3) and OAR 309-019-0149(1)(a), providers certified under these rules and providing services consistent with OAR 309-019-0199(2)(a) to individuals living in residential programs licensed under chapter 309, divisions 35 and 40 of the OAR may retroactively bill for medically appropriate services provided prior to the completion of the assessment and service plan if:

(a) The assessment and service plan are completed within the first 14 days of placement at the licensed residential program;

(b) The assessment, service plan, and any additional required documentation demonstrate medical necessity of the services consistent congruent with OAR 410-172-0630(2); and

(c) All requirements of OAR 410-172-650(f) are satisfactorily met to allow for retroactive payment.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205-430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270



## Service Plan and Service Notes

(1) In addition to any program specific service delivery requirements, ~~The S~~ Service pPlan must be a ~~writtentypedlegible,~~ individualized plan designed to improve the individual's condition to the point where the individual's continued participation in the program is no longer necessary. The ~~s~~ Service Pplan is included in the individual's service record and must:

(a) Be completed prior to the start of services except as allowed under OAR 309-019-0135(4)(a)(A-C);

(b) Reflect the assessment and the level of care to be provided;

(c) Reflect the suicide risk assessment, crisis de-escalation, safety planning, and lethal means counseling;

(d) Include the participation of the individual and family members, as applicable;

~~(e) A~~ Include a summary ~~Include a description of all warm handoff, care coordination planning, including warm handoffs, and implementation care coordination planning and implementation, including but not limited to; and~~

(A) An assessment of all continuing care needs, including including housing; and

(B) A plan to address the individual's needs by linking to appropriate community services, including making referrals to support address linkages to need for immediate appropriate housing, following discharge from an acute care psychiatric facility..

~~(f)~~ Be completed and signed by qualified program staff as follows:

(A) A QMHP in mental health programs;

(B) Supervisory or treatment staff in substance use disorders treatment programs; ~~;~~ and

(C) Supervisory or treatment staff in problem gambling treatment programs.

(g) For mental health services, a QMHP, who is also a licensed health care professional, must recommend the services and supports by signing the ~~S~~ Service plan within ten ~~(10)~~ business days of the start of services; and

(h) An LMP must approve the ~~Service Plans~~ service plan at least annually for each individual receiving mental health services for one or more continuous years. The LMP may designate annual clinical oversight by documenting the designation to a specific licensed health care professional.

(2) At minimum, each ~~Service Plans~~ service plan must include:

(a) ~~Individualized T~~ Individualized treatment objectives ~~objectives, which that are:~~

(A) Individualized to meet the assessed needs of the individual;

~~(B) Quantifiable~~ Measurable for the purpose of evaluating individual progress, including a baseline evaluation.~~and~~

~~(C) Include a baseline evaluation of current progress toward meeting each objective.~~

(b) The specific services and supports indicated by the assessment, including peer delivered services ~~as medically appropriate~~ and addressing suicide risk that will be used to meet the treatment objectives;

(c) A projected schedule for service and support delivery, including the expected frequency and duration of each type of planned therapeutic ~~session or~~ encounter and or peer/family support services;

(d) ~~The type of~~ A notation of t~~The credential or credentials held by of the~~ personnel that will be furnishing/providing each ~~the~~ services and support; and

(e) A projected schedule for re-evaluating the Service Plan~~service plan~~.

(3) Service Notes:

(a) Providers must document each service and support. A s~~S~~ervice n~~N~~ote, at minimum, must include:

(A) The specific services rendered;

(B) The specific service plan objectives(s) being addressed by the services provided;

~~(B)~~ C) The date, time of service, and the actual amount of time the services were rendered;

~~(C)~~ D) The relationship of the services provided to the treatment objective described in the Service Plan~~service plan~~;

(E) Documentation of the suicide risk assessment, lethal means counseling, and safety plan;

~~(E)~~ F) Who rendered the services and their credential~~The personnel rendering the services, including their signature and credential~~;

~~(F)~~ G) The setting in which the services were rendered; and

~~(G)~~ H) The relationship of the services to the treatment regimen described in the Service Plan; and

~~(H)~~ G) Periodic Updates describing the individual's progress. A statement quantifying individual progress toward the specific service objectives addressed by the service.

(4) Decisions to transfer individuals must be documented, including the reason for the transfer.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205-430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168~~

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

## Program Specific Minimum Service Standards

### 309-019-0145

#### Co-Occurring Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders (COD)

Providers approved under OAR 309-008-0000 and designated to provide services and supports for individuals diagnosed with COD must provide concurrent service and support planning and delivery for substance use disorders, gambling disorder, and mental health diagnosis, including integrated assessment addressing cCo-oOccurring bBehavioral hHealth dDiagnoses, sService pPlan, and sService rRecord.

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955~~

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955~~

### 309-019-0150

#### Outpatient Mental Health Services to Children and Adults

(1) Crisis services must be provided directly or through linkage to a local crisis services provider and must include the following:

(a) 24-Twenty-four hours, seven days per week telephone or face-to-face screening within one hour of notification of the crisis event to determine an individual's need for immediate community mental health services; and

(b) 24-Twenty-four hours, seven days per week capability to conduct, by or under the supervision of a QMHP, an assessment, including suicide risk assessment, resulting assessment, resulting in a Service Planservice plan that includes the crisis services necessary to assist the individual and family to stabilize and transition to the appropriate level of care.

(2) Available case management services must be provided, including the following:

~~(a) Assistance in applying for benefits to which the individual may be entitled.~~ Program staff must assist individuals in gaining access to, and maintaining, resources such as Social Security benefits, general assistance, food stamps, vocational rehabilitation, and housing.

When needed, program staff must arrange transportation or accompany individuals to help them apply for benefits; and

(b) Referral and coordination to help individuals gain access to services and supports identified in the Service Plans~~service plan~~; and

(c) Assistance with a warm handoff process from an acute care psychiatric facility, compliant with OAR 309-032-0870;

(d) Referral and coordination to help individuals at risk of suicide and their families.

(3) When significant health and safety concerns are identified, program staff must enassure that necessary services or actions occur to address the identified health and safety needs for the individual, including services to individuals at imminent risk of suicide as determined by the suicide risk assessment.

(4) Peer Delivered Services mustshall be made available.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630

### **309-019-0151**

#### Mobile Crisis Services

(1) The effectiveness of mMobile cCrisis sServices in de-escalating a crisis and diverting hospitalization or arrest is enhanced by team members competent in performing an assessment, including a suicide risk assessment, and delivering a timely and effective course of intervention. These services provide access to a multi-disciplinary support team, ready resources such as access to urgent appointments, brief respite services, and the ability to provide brief follow-up care when indicated. Effective mobile crisis services are those that are planned and delivered with local stakeholders. Mobile crisis programs shall be developed in coordination with the Local Public Safety Coordinating Council as outlined in ORS §423.560.

(2) CMHP shall provide mMobile cCrisis sServices as a component of crisis services according to OAR 309-019-0150 for individuals experiencing mental health crisis within their respective geographic service area to meet the following objectives:

(a) Reduce acute psychiatric hospitalization of individuals experiencing mental health crisis; and

(b) Reduce the number of individuals with mental health diagnoses who are incarcerated as a result of mental health crisis events involving law enforcement.

(3) CMHP shall provide mMobile cCrisis sServices including, at a minimum, but not limited to:

(a) 24Twenty-four hours a day, seven7 days a week screening to determine the need for immediate services for any individual requesting assistance or for whom assistance is requested;

(b) A face-to-face therapeutic response delivered in a public setting at locations in the community where the crisis arises including, but not limited to, an ~~person~~ individual's home, schools, residential programs, nursing homes, group home settings, and hospitals to enhance community integration;

(c) Services that are generally delivered in a natural environment by or under the supervision of a QMHP, such as QMHAs and ~~C~~certified ~~P~~peer ~~S~~support ~~S~~specialists~~peers~~, and resulting in linkages to service and supports and a support ~~a~~Service ~~P~~plan if required. Disposition of services shall maintain as the primary goal, with diversion from hospitalization and incarceration through clinically appropriate community-based supports and services;

(d) ~~Eliminating~~Minimizing the need for transportation (frequently by law enforcement officers or emergency services) to a hospital emergency department or a community crisis site;

(e) Are not intended to be restricted to services delivered in hospitals or at residential programs;

(f) Mental ~~h~~Health crisis assessment;

(g) ~~Brief~~cCrisis~~er~~isis intervention;

(h) Assistance with placement in crisis respite, peer respite, or residential services as defined in ~~;~~ (point to definition OAR 309-035-0100(15));

(i) Assistance to families ~~and~~ /families of choice in managing suicide risk until the individual is engaged in outpatient services or when the individual is to receive services on an outpatient basis;

(j) Initiation of ~~commitment~~ ~~process~~involuntary services if applicable;

(k) Assistance with hospital placement; and,

(~~L~~k) Connecting individuals with ongoing supports and services.

(4) Counties~~y~~ shall track and report response time. Counties~~y~~ shall respond to crisis events in their respective geographic service area with the following maximum response times:

(a) Counties classified as "urban" shall respond within one ~~(1)~~-hour~~;~~;

(b) Counties classified as "rural" shall respond within two ~~(2)~~-hours~~;~~;

(c) Counties classified as "frontier" shall respond within three ~~(3)~~-hours~~;~~;

(d) Counties classified as "rural" and "frontier" shall contact an individual experiencing a crisis event via telephone by a staff member who is trained in crisis management (such as an ~~person~~individual from a crisis line or a ~~peer~~cCertified ~~p~~Peer ~~S~~specialist) within one ~~(1)~~ hour of being notified of the crisis event.

(5) Each CMHP shall establish internal policies to monitor the number of instances that ~~m~~Mobile ~~c~~Crisis response times exceed the maximum response times established in OAR 309-019-0151. At the time of the site certification review, a sample of mobile crisis events shall ~~will~~ be reviewed to evaluate adherence to the maximum response times established in



OAR 309-019-0151. The number of mobile crisis events that exceed the maximum response times established in OAR 309-019-0151 shall may not exceed the maximum response time more than 210%percent of the time; at least 890%percent of all mobile crisis events' response times shall occur within the response times established in OAR 309-019-0151.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205- 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052, 813.200 - 813.270

### **309-019-0152**

#### Mobile Crisis Response Reporting Requirements

(1) The CMHP shall submit electronically a written quarterly report, using forms and procedures prescribed by OHAthe Authority, electronically to the HSDDivision contract administrator, no later than 45 calendar days following the end of each reporting quarter.;

(a) The CMHP shall track and report the number of individuals receiving a mMobile cCrisis sServices contact to include the following information:

(A) Location of mobile crisis service;

(B) Individuals receiving suicide risk assessments; and

(CB) Disposition of the mobile crisis contact;

(DG) #Whether the crisis contact resulted in admission to aAcute cCare; or

(ED) If the mobile crisis contact resulted in enrollment in mental health treatment and stabilization in a community setting.

(b) Counties shall track and report response time. Countiesy shall respond to crisis events in their respective geographic service area with the following maximum response times:

(A) Counties classified as "urban" shall respond within one (1)-hour.;

(B) Counties classified as "rural" shall respond within two (2)-hours.;

(C) Counties classified as "frontier" shall respond within three (3)-hours.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630 and 430.634

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052, 813.200 - 813.270

**Enhanced Care Services (ECS) and Enhanced Care Outreach Services (ECOS)**

~~(1) Services will be provided in a facility or program approved by the Department of Human Services (DHS), Aging and People with Disabilities (APD) as follows:~~

~~(a) Enhanced Care Services (ECS) must be provided in designated DHS licensed facilities that have a multipurpose room, an environment with low stimulation, an accessible outdoor space with a covered area, security doors, a refrigerator, a microwave conveniently located for program activities, space for interdisciplinary meetings, space for mental health treatment and space for storage of records. A minimum of one private room is required in facilities opened after January 1, 1994; and~~

~~(b) Enhanced Care Outreach Services (ECOS) must be provided to residents of DHS licensed facilities and include individualized wrap-around rehabilitative mental health services.~~

~~(21)~~ To be eligible for ECS/ECOS an individual must:

(a) Be Aging and People with Disabilities (APD) service eligible;

(b) Meet the diagnostic criteria of severe mental illness with problematic-complex behaviors or be approved by the eEnhanced cCare sServices tTeam;

(c) Require intensive community mental health services to transition to a lower level of care;

(d) Have a history of multiple APD placements due to problematic-complex behaviors; and

(e) Be currently or have been a patient at the Oregon State Hospital or have received in-patient services in an acute psychiatric unit for over 14 days and have been referred to non-enhanced APD facilities and denied admission due to severe mental illness with problematic-complex behaviors and be currently exhibiting two or more of the following: self-endangering behavior, aggressive behavior, intrusive behavior, intractable psychiatric symptoms, complex medication needs, sexually inappropriate behavior, and elopement behavior.

~~(32)~~ ECS/ECOS providers must:

(a) For ECS, provide a minimum of 12-four hours per day or additional hours as required to support the needs of the enhanced care facility, seven-7 days per week of mental health services; provided or arranged for by the contracted mental health provider. ~~Services must include a minimum of 3 hours rehabilitative services per day;~~

(b) For ECOS, services based on the assessed need of the individual ~~will~~ may not exceed the approved prior authorization-5 days per week;

(c) Coordinate interdisciplinary team meetings (IDT) to develop the Service Plan, review the behavior support plan, and to coordinate care planning with the Department of Human Services (Department) HS licensed provider staff, APD case manager, QMHP, prescriber and related professionals such as DHS-the Department licensed facility or /program direct

care staff, ~~DHS~~ the Department licensed facility RN, and facility administrator. IDTs in ECS programs must be held weekly and at least quarterly for ECOS; ~~(patient and patient support)~~

(d) Conduct quarterly mental health in-service trainings for ~~DHS~~ Department-licensed providers and related program staff providing services to ECS and /ECOS recipients; and

(e) Ensure the availability of consultation and crisis services staffed by a QMHP, or the local CMHP, available to the ECS and /ECOS provider and ~~DHS~~ the Department licensed facility direct care staff 24-hours per day. ~~(f) Ensure access to Peer Delivered Services.~~

(43) Behavior support services must be designed to facilitate positive alternatives to challenging behavior, and to assist the individual in developing adaptive and functional living skills. Providers must:

(a) Develop and implement individual behavior support strategies, based on a functional or other clinically appropriate assessment of challenging behavior;

(b) Document the behavior support strategies and measures for tracking progress as a behavior support plan in the sService pPlan;

(c) Establish a framework ~~which that~~ asensures individualized positive behavior support practices throughout the program and articulates a rationale consistent with the philosophies supported by the Division, including the Division's tTrauma-informed sServices pPolicy;

(d) Obtain informed consent from the individual or guardian, if one is appointed, in the use of behavior support strategies and communicate both verbally and in writing the information to the individual or guardian, if one is appointed, in a language understood;

(e) Establish outcome-based tracking methods to measure the effectiveness of behavior support strategies in:

(A) The use of least restrictive interventions possible; and

(B) Increasing positive behavior.

(f) Require all program staff to receive quarterly mental health in-service training in eEvidence-based pPractices to promote positive behavior support and related to needs of each individual; and

(g) Review and update behavior support policies, procedures, and practices annually.

(54) Providers must develop a transition plan for each individual as part of the initial assessment process. Each individual's mental health service plan shall ~~will~~ reflect their transition goal and the supports necessary to achieve transition.

(65) Staffing requirements:

(a) Each ECS and /ECOS program must have a minimum of one ~~4~~ FTE QMHP for programs serving five or more individuals who is responsible for coordinating entries, transitions, and required IDT's; assuring the completion of individual assessments, mental health service,

~~and~~ behavior support plans; providing supervision of QMHP's and QMHA's; and ~~to~~ ~~coordinate~~coordinating services and trainings with facility staff;

(b) Each ECS ~~and~~ /ECOS program must have psychiatric consultation available. For ECS programs serving more than ~~40~~ten individuals, the psychiatrist must participate.

~~(76)~~ In ECS programs, the CMHP and the ~~DHS-Department~~ licensed provider must develop a written collaborative agreement that addresses at minimum: risk management, census management, staff levels, training, treatment and activity programs, entry and transition procedures, a process for reporting and evaluating critical incidents, record keeping, policy and procedure manuals, dispute resolution, and service coordination.

~~(87) Peer Delivered Services must be made available.~~

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.640, 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168~~

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052~~

### **309-019-0160**

#### **Psychiatric Security Review Board and Juvenile Psychiatric Security Review Board**

(1) Services and supports must include all appropriate services, including pPeer dDelivered sServices, determined necessary to assist the individual in maintaining community placement and ~~which that~~ are consistent with Conditional Release Orders and the Agreement to Conditional Release.

(2) Providers of PSRB and JPSRB services acting through the designated qQualified Person~~individual~~, must submit reports to the PSRB or JPSRB as follows:

(a) ~~Orders for Evaluation~~: For individuals under the jurisdiction of the PSRB or the JPSRB, providers must take the following action upon receipt of an Order for Evaluation:

(A) Within 15 days of receipt of the Order, schedule an interview with the individual for the purpose of initiating or conducting the evaluation;

(B) Appoint a QMHP to conduct the evaluation and to provide an evaluation report to the PSRB or JPSRB;

(C) Within 30 days of the evaluation interview, submit the evaluation report to the PSRB or JPSRB responding to the questions asked in the Order for Evaluation; and

(D) If supervision by the provider is recommended, notify the PSRB or JPSRB of the name of the person-individual designated to serve as the individual's qQualified pPerson, who must be primarily responsible for delivering or arranging for the delivery of services and the submission of reports under these rules.

(b) Monthly reports consistent with PSRB or JPSRB reporting requirements as specified in the Conditional Release Order that summarize the individual's adherence to Conditional Release requirements and general progress; and

(c) Interim reports, including immediate reports by phone, if necessary, to ensure the public or individual's safety including:

(A) At the time of any significant change in the individual's health, legal, employment, or other status ~~which~~ that may affect compliance with Conditional Release orders;

(B) Upon noting major symptoms requiring psychiatric stabilization or hospitalization;

(C) Upon noting any other major change in the individual's ~~s~~Service ~~p~~Plan;

(D) Upon learning of any violations of the Conditional Release Order; and

(E) At any other time when, in the opinion of the ~~q~~Qualified ~~p~~Person, such an interim report is needed to assist the individual.

(3) PSRB and JPSRB providers must submit copies of all monthly reports and interim reports to both the PSRB or JPSRB and the Division.

(4) When the individual is under the jurisdiction of the PSRB or JPSRB, providers must include the following additional documentation in the ~~s~~Service ~~r~~Record:

(a) Monthly reports to the PSRB or JPSRB;

(b) Interim reports, as applicable;

(c) The PSRB or JPSRB ~~i~~nitial ~~e~~valuation; and

(d) A copy of the Conditional Order of Release.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 426.490 - 426.500, 430.640, 443.450

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 426.380 - 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380 - 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991~~

### **309-019-0165**

#### **Intensive ~~Community-Based Treatment and Support~~ Outpatient Services and Supports (IOSCTS) for Children**

(1) IOSCTS services may be delivered at a clinic, facility, home, school, other provider or allied agency location, or other setting as identified by the child and family team. In addition

to services specified by the sService pPlan and the standards for outpatient mental health services, IOSCTS services must include:

~~(a) Care coordination provided by a QMHP or a QMHA supervised by a QMHP;~~

~~(b) A child and family team, as defined in these rules;~~

~~(c) Service coordination planning, to be developed by the child and family team;~~

~~(ad) Provider participation on the child and family team or Wwraparound team;~~

~~Review of progress at child and family team meetings to occur at a frequency determined by the child and family team and consistent with needs;~~

~~(be) A documented pProactive safety and crisis plan developed by the child and family team, if applicable, or the provider. The proactive safety and crisis plan must at minimum includeing:~~

(A) Strategies designed to facilitate positive alternatives to challenging behavior and to assist the individual in developing adaptive and functional living skills;

(B) Strategies to avert potential crisis without placement disruptions;

(C) Professional and natural supports to provide 24 hours, seven days per week flexible response; and

(D) Documented informed consent from the parent or guardian.

(2) IOSCTS providers must include the following additional documentation in the sService rRecord:

~~(a) Identified care coordinator and care coordination provider as well as documentation of provider participation on child and family team or Wwraparound team;~~

~~Level of Service Intensity Determination;~~

~~(b) Names and contact information of the members of the child and family team;~~

~~(c) Documented identification of strengths and needs;~~

~~(ce) A summary and review of service coordination planning by the provider or by the child and family team or Wwraparound team when applicableparticipating team members; and~~

~~(de) A documented proactive safety and crisis plan including a suicide prevention plan.~~

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254- 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955



~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955~~

### 309-019-0170

#### Outpatient Problem Gambling Treatment Services

Outpatient problem gambling treatment These services include group, individual, and family treatment consistent with the following requirements:

(1) The first offered service appointment must be five business days or less from the date of request for services.

(2) Service sessions must address the challenges of the individual as they relate, directly or indirectly, to the problem gambling behavior.

(3) ~~Telephone counseling:~~ Providers may provide telephone counseling when face person-~~to-face person~~ contact would involve an unwise delay, as follows:

(a) The individual must be currently enrolled in the problem gambling treatment program;

(b) Phone counseling must be provided by a qualified program staff within their scope of practice;

(c) Service Notes for phone counseling must follow the same criteria as face-to-face counseling and identify the session was conducted by phone and the clinical rationale for the phone session;

(d) Telephone counseling must meet HIPAA and 42 CFR standards for privacy; and

(e) There must be an agreement of informed consent for phone counseling that is discussed with the individual and documented in the individual's service record.

(4) ~~Family Counseling:~~ Family counseling includes face-to-face or ~~non face-to-face~~non-face-to-face service sessions between a program staff member delivering the service and a family member whose life has been negatively impacted by gambling.

(a) Service sessions must address the problems of the family member as they relate directly or indirectly to the problem gambling behavior; and

(b) Services to the family must be offered even if the individual identified as a problem gambler is unwilling, or unavailable to accept services.

(5) 24~~Twenty-four~~ -hour crisis response accomplished through agreement with other crisis services, on-call program staff, or other arrangement acceptable to the Division.

(6) A financial assessment must be included in the entry process and documented in the assessment; ~~and~~

(7) The service plan must include a financial component, consistent with the financial assessment.

(8) A risk assessment for suicide ideation must be included in the entry process and documented in the assessment, as well as appropriate referrals made, ~~and~~

(9) The service plan must address suicidal risks if determined within the assessment process.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390430.640, 461.549

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 426.380-426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460,

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640, 461.549~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 409.430 - 409.435, 426.380 - 426.395, 426.490 - 426.500, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991, 461.549~~

### **309-019-0175**

#### **Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment and Recovery Services**

(1) ~~Interim Referral and Information Services:~~ Pregnant women or other individuals using substances intravenously, whose services are funded by the SAPT Block Grant, must receive interim referrals and information prior to entry, to reduce the adverse health effects of substance use, promote the health of the individual, and reduce the risk of transmission of disease. At a minimum, interim referral and informational services must include:

(a) Counseling and education about blood borne pathogens including Hepatitis, HIV, STDs, and Tuberculosis (TB); the risks of needle and paraphernalia sharing, and the likelihood of transmission to sexual partners and infants;

(b) Counseling and education about steps that can decrease the likelihood of Hepatitis, HIV, STD, and TB transmission;

(c) Referral for Hepatitis, HIV, STD, and TB testing, and vaccine or care services if necessary; ~~and~~

(d) For pregnant women, counseling on the likelihood of blood borne pathogen transmission as well as the effects of alcohol, tobacco, and other drug use on the fetus and referral for prenatal care; ~~and-~~

~~(e) Peer dDelivered sServices that addresses parenting and youth in transition support.~~

(2) ~~Culturally Specific Services:~~ Programs approved and designated as culturally specific programs must meet the following criteria:

(a) Serve a majority of individuals representing culturally specific populations;

(b) Maintain a current demographic and cultural profile of the community;

(c) Ensure that individuals from the identified cultural group receive effective and respectful care that is provided in a manner compatible with their cultural health beliefs, practices, and preferred language;

(d) Implement strategies to recruit, retain, and promote a diverse staff at all levels of the organization that are representative of the population being served;

(e) Ensure that staff at all levels and across all disciplines receive ongoing education and training in culturally and linguistically appropriate service delivery;

(f) ~~Providers should~~ Ensure that a majority of the substance use disorders treatment staff be representative of the specific culture being served;

(g) Ensure that individuals are offered customer satisfaction surveys that address all areas of service and that the results of the surveys are used for quality improvement;

(h) Consider race, ethnicity, and language data in measuring customer satisfaction;

(i) Develop and implement cultural ~~competency awareness~~ policies;

(j) Ensure that data on an individual's race, ethnicity, and spoken and written language are collected in health records, integrated into the organization's management information systems, and periodically updated;

(k) Develop and maintain a gGoverning or aAdvisory bBoard as follows:

(A) Have a majority representation of the culturally specific group being served;

(B) Receive training concerning the significance of culturally relevant services and supports;

(C) Meet at least quarterly; and

(D) Monitor agency quality improvement mechanisms and evaluate the ongoing effectiveness and implementation of culturally relevant services (CLAS) and supports within the organization.

(h) Maintain accessibility to culturally specific populations including:

(A) The physical location of the program must be within close proximity to the culturally specific populations;

(B) Where available, public transportation must be within close proximity to the program; and

(C) Hours of service, telephone contact, and other accessibility issues must be appropriate for the population.

(m) The physical facility where the culturally specific services are delivered must be psychologically comfortable for the group including:

(A) Materials displayed must be culturally relevant; and

(B) Mass media programming (~~radio, television, etc.~~) must be sensitive to cultural background.;

(n) Other cultural differences must be considered and accommodated when possible, such as the need or desire to bring family members to the facility, play areas for small children, and related accommodations; and

(o) Ensure that grievance processes are culturally and linguistically sensitive and capable of identifying, preventing, and resolving cross-cultural conflicts or complaints.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 430.640, 443.450

Stats. Implemented: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991~~

### **309-019-0180**

#### **Outpatient Adolescent Substance Use Disorders Treatment and Recovery Services**

Programs approved to provide adolescent substance use disorders treatment services or those with adolescent-designated service funding must meet the following standards:

(1) Development of ~~s~~Service ~~p~~Plans and case management services must include participation of parents, other family members, schools, children's services agencies, and juvenile corrections, as appropriate.;

(2) Services, or appropriate referrals, must include:

(a) Family counseling;

(b) Community and social skills training; and

(c) Smoking cessation service.

(3) Continuing care services must be of appropriate duration and designed to maximize recovery opportunities. The services must include:

(a) Reintegration services and coordination with family and schools;

(b) Youth dominated self-help groups where available;

(c) Linkage to emancipation services when appropriate; ~~and~~

(d) Linkage to physical or sexual abuse counseling and support services when appropriate; ~~and~~

(e) Access to ~~p~~Peer ~~d~~Delivered ~~s~~Services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254- 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### **309-019-0185**

#### **Outpatient Women's Substance Use Disorders Treatment and Recovery Programs**

(1) Programs approved to provide women's substance use disorders treatment services or those with women-specific designated service funding must meet the following standards:

(a) The aAssessment must contain an evaluation that identifies and assesses needs specific to women's issues in service such as social isolation, self-reliance, parenting issues, domestic violence, women's physical health, housing, and financial considerations;

(b) The service plan must address all areas identified in the assessment and applicable service coordination details to address the identified needs;

(c) The program must provide or coordinate services and supports that meet the special access needs of women such as childcare, mental health services, and transportation, as indicated; and

(d) The program must provide, or coordinate, the following services and supports unless clinically contraindicated:

(A) Gender-specific services and supports;

(B) Family services, including therapeutic services for children in the custody of women in treatment;

(C) Reintegration with family;

(D) Peer delivered supportsservices;

(E) Smoking cessation;

~~(F) Peer Delivered Services;~~

~~(G) Housing; and~~

~~(H) Transportation.~~

(2) Services must include the participation of family and other agencies as appropriate, such as social service, child welfare, or corrections agencies;

(3) Referral Services: The program must coordinate referral services with the following, if indicated:

(a) Agencies providing services to women who have experienced physical abuse, sexual abuse, or other types of domestic violence; ~~and~~

(b) Parenting training; ~~and~~

(c) Continuing care treatment services must be consistent with the ASAM PPC and must include referrals to female dominated support groups where available; ~~and~~

(4) Programs that receive SAPT Block Grant funding must provide or coordinate the following services for pregnant women and women with dependent children, including women who are attempting to regain custody of their children:

(a) Primary medical care for women, including referral for prenatal care and, while the women are receiving such services, child care;

(b) Primary pediatric care, including immunizations for their children;

(c) Gender specific substance abuse treatment and other therapeutic interventions for women ~~which-that~~ may include, but are not limited to:

(A) Relationship issues;

(B) Sexual and physical abuse;

(C) Parenting;

(D) Access to child care while the women are receiving these services; and

(E) Therapeutic interventions for children in the custody of women in treatment ~~which-that~~ may include, but are not limited to:

(i) Their developmental needs;

(ii) Any issues concerning sexual and physical abuse, and neglect; and

(iii) Sufficient case management and transportation to ensure that women and their children have access to services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254- 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240- 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

**309-019-0190**

**Community-Based Substance Use Treatment Programs for Individuals in the Criminal Justice System**



(1) For individuals in the criminal justice system community-based substance use treatment  
These services and supports are for individuals who are under the supervision of a probation officer or on parole or post-prison supervision or participating in a drug treatment court program or otherwise under the direct supervision of the court.

(2) Services and supports must incorporate interventions and strategies that target criminogenic risk factors and include:

(a) Cognitive behavioral interventions;

(b) Motivational interventions;

(c) Relapse prevention; and

(d) Healthy relationships education<sup>2</sup>.

(3) Providers must demonstrate coordination of services with criminal justice partners through written protocols, program staff activities, and individual record documentation.

(4) Program Directors or clinical supervisors must have experience in community-based offender treatment programs and have specific training and experience applying effective, evidence-based clinical strategies and services for individuals receiving community-based substance use disorders treatment services to individuals in the criminal justice system<sup>2</sup>.

(5) Within the first six months of hire, program staff must:

(a) Receive training on effective principles of evidenced-based practices for individuals with criminogenic risk factors; and

(b) Have documented knowledge, skills, and abilities demonstrating treatment strategies for individuals with criminogenic risk factors.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### **309-019-0195**

#### **DUII Rehabilitation Programs**

(1) In addition to the general standards for substance use disorders treatment programs, those programs approved to provide DUII rehabilitation services must meet the following standards:

(a) DUII rehabilitation programs must assess individuals referred for treatment by the screening specialist<sup>2</sup>.

(b) Placement, continued stay, and transfer of individuals must be based on the criteria described in the ASAM PPC, subject to the following: ~~additional terms and conditions~~[k5]

(A) ~~Abstinence~~: Individuals must demonstrate continuous abstinence for a minimum of 90 days prior to completion as documented by urinalysis tests and other evidence;

(B) ~~Treatment Completion~~: Only DUII rehabilitation programs may certify treatment completion;

(C) ~~Residential Treatment~~: Using the criteria from the ASAM PPC, the DUII program's assessment may indicate that the individual requires treatment in a residential program. When the individual is in residential treatment, it is the responsibility of the DUII program to:

(i) Monitor the case carefully while the individual is in residential treatment;

(ii) Provide or monitor outpatient and follow-up services when the individual is transferred from the residential program; and

(iii) Verify completion of residential treatment and follow-up outpatient treatment.

(2) ~~Urinalysis Testing~~: A minimum of one urinalysis sample per month must be collected during the period of service, the total number deemed necessary to be determined by an individual's DUII rehabilitation program:

(a) Using the process ~~outlined defined~~ in these rules, the samples must be tested for at least five controlled drugs, including alcohol;

(b) At least one of the samples ~~must is to~~ be collected and tested in the first two weeks of the program, and at least one ~~is to~~ must be collected and tested in the last two weeks of the program;

(c) If the first sample is positive, two or more samples must be collected and tested, including one sample within the last two weeks before completion; and

(d) Programs may use methods of testing for the presence of alcohol and other drugs in the individual's body other than urinalysis tests if they have obtained the prior review and approval of such methods by the Division.

(3) ~~Reporting~~: The program must report:

(a) To the Division on forms prescribed by the Division;

(b) To the screening specialist within 30 days from the date of the referral by the screening specialist. Subsequent reports must be provided within 30 days of completion or within ~~10~~ ten days of the time that the individual enters noncompliant status; and

(c) To the appropriate screening specialist, case manager, court, or other agency as required when requested concerning individual cooperation, attendance, treatment progress, utilized modalities, and fee payment.

(4) ~~Certifying Completion~~: The program must send a numbered Certificate of Completion to the Department of Motor Vehicles to verify the completion of convicted individuals. Payment

for treatment may be considered in determining completion. A certificate of completion ~~must~~ may not be issued until the individual:

- (a) Meets the completion criteria approved by the Division;
- (b) Meets the terms of the fee agreement between the provider and the individual; and
- (c) Demonstrates 90 days of continuous abstinence prior to completion.

(5) ~~Records~~: The DUII rehabilitation program must maintain in the permanent ~~s~~Service ~~r~~Record, urinalysis results and all information necessary to determine whether the program is being, or has been, successfully completed.

(6) ~~Separation of Screening and Rehabilitation Functions~~: Without the approval of the Chief Officer, no agency or ~~person~~individual may provide DUII rehabilitation to an individual who has also been referred by a ~~J~~judge to the same agency or ~~person~~individual for a DUII screening. Failure to comply with this rule ~~will~~ shall be considered a violation of ORS chapter 813. If the ~~c~~Chief ~~o~~Officer finds such a violation, the ~~c~~Chief ~~o~~Officer may deny, suspend, revoke, or refuse to renew a letter of approval.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.640, 443.450

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 743A.168 Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### 309-019-0200

#### Medical Protocols in Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment and Recovery Programs

Medical protocols must be approved by a medical director under contract with a program or written reciprocal agreement with a medical practitioner under ~~managed~~ coordinated care. The protocols must:

- (1) Require a medical history be included in the ~~a~~Assessment.;
- (2) Designate those medical symptoms that, when found, require further investigation, physical examinations, service, or laboratory testing.;
- (3) Require that individuals admitted to the program who are currently injecting or intravenously using a drug, or have injected or intravenously used a drug within the past 30 days, or who are at risk of withdrawal from a drug, or who may be pregnant, must be referred for a physical examination and appropriate lab testing within 30 days of entry to the program. This requirement may be waived by the medical director if these services have been received within the past 90 days and documentation is provided.;

(4) Require pregnant women be referred for prenatal care within two weeks of entry to the program.

(5) Require that the program provide HIV and AIDS, TB, sexually transmitted disease, Hepatitis and other infectious disease information and risk assessment, including any needed referral, within 30 days of entry.

(6) Specify the steps for follow up and coordination with physical health care providers in the event the individual is found to have an infectious disease or other major medical problem.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 430.640, 443.450

Stats. Implemented: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991~~

### **Building Requirements, Quality Assessment, Grievances, and Variances**

#### **309-019-0205**

#### **Building Requirements in Outpatient Substance Use Disorders Treatment Programs**

All substance use disorders treatment programs must:

(1) Comply with all applicable state and local building, electrical, plumbing, fire, safety, and zoning codes.

(2) Maintain up-to-date documentation verifying that they meet applicable local business license, zoning, and building codes and federal, state, and local fire and safety regulations. It is the responsibility of the program to check with local government to make sure all applicable local codes have been met.

(3) Provide space for services including but not limited to intake, assessment, counseling, and telephone conversations that assures the privacy and confidentiality of individuals and is furnished in an adequate and comfortable fashion including plumbing, sanitation, heating, and cooling.

(4) Provide rest rooms for individuals, visitors, and staff that are accessible to ~~person~~ individuals with disabilities pursuant to Title II of the Americans with Disabilities Act if the program receives any public funds or Title III of the Act if no public funds are received;

(5) Adopt and implement emergency policies and procedures, including an evacuation plan and emergency plan in case of fire, explosion, accident, death, or other emergency. The policies and procedures and emergency plans must be current and posted in a conspicuous area.

(6) ~~Tobacco Use:~~ Outpatient programs must not allow tobacco use in program facilities and on program grounds.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 430.640, 443.450

Stats. Implemented: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.524 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640 & 443.450~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 443.400 - 443.460, 443.991~~

### **309-019-0210**

#### **Quality Assessment and Performance Improvement**

Providers must develop and implement a structured and ongoing process to assess, monitor, and improve the quality and effectiveness of services provided to individuals and their families.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955~~

### **309-019-0215**

#### **Grievances and Appeals**

(1) Any individual, ~~or parent or guardian,~~ receiving services, ~~or the parent or guardian of the individual receiving services,~~ may file a grievance with the provider, the individual's managed-coordinated care plan, or the Division.

(2) For individuals whose services are funded by Medicaid, grievance and appeal procedures are set forth in ~~outlined~~ in OAR 410-141-0260 through 410-141-0266, ~~must be followed.~~

(3) For individuals whose services are not funded by Medicaid, providers must:

(a) Notify each individual, ~~or guardian,~~ of the grievance procedures by reviewing a written copy of the policy upon entry;

(b) Assist individuals and parents or guardians, ~~as applicable,~~ to understand and complete the grievance process; and notify them of the results and basis for the decision;

(c) Encourage and facilitate resolution of the grievance at the lowest possible level;

(d) Complete an investigation of any grievance within 30 calendar days;

(e) Implement a procedure for accepting, processing, and responding to grievances including specific timelines for each;

(f) Designate a program staff ~~person~~ individual to receive and process the grievance;

(g) Document any action taken on a substantiated grievance within a timely manner; and

(h) Document receipt, investigation, and action taken in response to the grievance.

(4) ~~Grievance Process Notice.~~ The provider must have a Grievance Process Notice, ~~which that~~ must be posted in a conspicuous place stating the telephone number of:

(a) The Division;

(b) ~~The CMHP;~~

~~(c)~~ Disability Rights Oregon; and

~~(d)~~ The applicable managed-coordinated care organization.

(5) ~~Expedited Grievances:~~ In circumstances where the matter of the grievance is likely to cause harm to the individual before the grievance procedures outlined in these rules are completed, the individual, or guardian of the individual, may request an expedited review. The program administrator must review and respond in writing to the grievance within 48 hours of receipt of the grievance. The written response must include information about the appeal process.

(6) ~~Retaliation:~~ A grievant, witness, or staff member of a provider ~~may~~ must not be subject to retaliation by a provider for making a report or being interviewed about a grievance or being a witness. Retaliation may include, but is not limited to, dismissal or harassment, reduction in services, wages, or benefits, or basing service or a performance review on the action.

(7) ~~Immunity:~~ The grievant is immune from any civil or criminal liability with respect to the making or content of a grievance made in good faith.

(8) ~~Appeals:~~ Individuals and their legal guardians, ~~as applicable,~~ shall ~~must~~ have the right to appeal entry, transfer, and grievance decisions as follows:

(a) If the individual or guardian, ~~if applicable,~~ is not satisfied with the decision, the individual or guardian may file an appeal in writing within ten working days of the date of the program administrator's response to the grievance or notification of denial for services ~~as applicable.~~ The appeal must be submitted to the ~~CMHP Director in the county where the provider is located or to the~~ Division ~~as applicable;~~

(b) If requested, program staff must be available to assist the individual;

(c) The ~~CMHP Director or~~ Division, ~~must~~ provide a written response within ten working days of the receipt of the appeal; and

(d) If the individual or guardian, ~~if applicable,~~ is not satisfied with the appeal decision, they ~~he or she~~ may file a second appeal in writing within ten working days of the date of the written response to the ~~Director~~ Chief Officer.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640



Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168,

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270

## **309-019-0220**

### **Variances**

(1) Requirements and standards for requesting and granting variances or exceptions are found in OAR 309-008-1600.

(2) Division Review and Notification: The cChief oOfficer of the Division, or designee, must approve or deny the request for a variance to these rules. The request must be made in writing using the Division approved variance request form and following the variance request procedure pursuant to compliant with OAR 309-008-1600. ~~The Chief Officer of the Division must approve or deny the request for a variance to these rules within the scope and authority The Division must be made in writing using the Division approved variance request form and following the variance request procedure compliant with OAR 309-008-1600.~~

(3) Granting a variance for one request does not set a precedent that must be followed by the Division when evaluating subsequent requests for variance.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 179.505, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270

## **Assertive Community Treatment (ACT)**

## **309-019-0225**

### **Definitions**

(1) In addition to the definitions identified in OAR 309-019-0105, the definitions below apply to this and subsequent rule sections.

(2) "Collateral Contacts" are means members of the individual's family or household, or significant others (e.g., landlord, employer, etc.) who regularly interact with the individual and are directly affected by or have the capability of affecting his or her their condition, and are identified in the treatment plan as having a role in the individual's recovery. For the purpose of the Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) program, a collateral contact does not include contacts with other mental health service providers or individuals who are

providing a paid service that would ordinarily be provided by the ACT team (e.g., meeting with a shelter staff who is assisting an ACT recipient in locating housing).

(3) “Community-Based” means ~~that~~ services and supports ~~that~~ must be provided in a participant’s home and surrounding community and not solely based in a traditional office-setting. ACT services may not be provided to individuals residing in an RTF or RTH licensed by ~~HSD~~the Division unless:

(Aa) The individual is not being provided rehabilitative services; or

(Bb) The individual has been identified for transition to a less intensive level of care. ~~When identified for transition to a less intensive level of care, the individual may receive ACT services for up to six months prior to discharge from the RTH or RTF.~~

(4) “Competency” means one year of experience or training in the specialty area and demonstration of the specific skills or knowledge.

(5) “Competitive Integrated Employment” means full-time or part time work:

(a) ~~A~~at minimum wage or higher;

(b) ~~A~~at a rate that is not less than the customary rate paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by other employees who are not individuals with disabilities, and who are similarly situated in similar occupations by the same employer and who have similar training, experience, and skill;

(c) ~~W~~with eligibility for the level of benefits provided to other employees;

(d) ~~A~~at a location where the employee interacts with other ~~person~~individuals who are not individuals with disabilities (not including supervisory personnel or individuals who are providing services to such employee) to the same extent that individuals who are not individuals with disabilities and who are in comparable positions interact with other ~~person~~individuals; and

(e) ~~as appropriate~~.~~That~~ presents opportunities for advancement that are similar to those for other employees who are not individuals with disabilities and who have similar positions.

(6) “Comprehensive Assessment” means the organized process of gathering and analyzing current and past information with each individual and the family and ~~or~~ support system and other significant ~~individuals~~ people to evaluate:

(1a) ~~m~~Mental and functional status;

(2b) ~~e~~Effectiveness of past treatment;

(3c) ~~e~~Current treatment, rehabilitation, and support needs to achieve individual goals and support recovery; and,

(4d) ~~†~~The range of individual strengths (e.g., knowledge gained from dealing with adversity, personal or ~~professional~~ roles, talents, personal traits) that ~~may~~ ~~can~~ act as resources to the individual and the ~~his/her~~ recovery planning team in pursuing goals. The results of the information gathering and analysis are used to:

(1A) Establish immediate and longer-term service needs with each individual;

(2B) Set goals and develop the first person directed recovery plan with each individual; and,

(3C) Optimize benefits that can be derived from existing strengths and resources of the individual and his/her family and/or natural support network in the community.

(7) “Co-Occurring Disorders (COD) Services” includemeans integrated assessment and treatment for individuals who have co-occurring mental health and substance use condition.

(8) “Division Approved Rreviewer” means the Oregon Center of Excellence for Assertive Community Treatment (OCEACT).OCEACT is the Division’s contracted entity that is responsible for conducting ACT fidelity reviews, training, and technical assistance to support new and existing ACT programs statewide.

(9) “Fidelity” for the purposes of the ACT program means the provider is providing services that are faithful to the evidence-based practice model and obtains a satisfactory score from the Oregon Center of Excellence for ACT as part of the their regular reviews.

(10) “Fixed Ppoint of Rresponsibility” means the ACT team itself provides virtually all needed services, rather than sending clients to different providers. If the team cannot provide a service(e.g., dental services), the team ensures that the service is provided.

(11) “Full-Time Equivalent” (FTE) for the purpose of ACT services ismeans a way to measure how many full-time employees are required to provide the appropriate level of services to fulfill minimum fidelity requirements.

(12) “Hospital Ddischarge Pplanning” for the purposes of the ACT program means a process that begins upon admission to the Oregon State Hospital (OSH) or an acute care psychiatric hospital and that is based on the presumption that with sufficient supports and services, all individuals can live in an integrated community setting. Discharge planning is developed and implemented through a person-centered planning process in which the individual has a primary role and is based on principles of self-determination. For OSH, dDischarge planning teams at OSH include a representative of a community mental health provider from the county where the individual is likely to transition.

(13) “Individual Placement and Support (IPS) Supported Employment Services” are means individualized services that assist individuals to obtain and maintain integrated, paid, competitive employment. Supported employment services are provided in a manner that seeks to allow individuals to work the maximum number of hours consistent with their preferences, interests, and abilities and are individually planned, based on person-centered planning principles and evidence-based practices.

(14) “Individual Treatment Team (ITT)” ismeans a group or combination of three to five ACT team staff members who together have a range of clinical and rehabilitation skills and expertise. The core members are the case manager, the psychiatrist or psychiatric nurse practitioner, one clinical or rehabilitation staff personindividual who backs up and shares case coordination tasks and substitutes for the service coordinator when they are he or she is not working, and a pPeer sSupport and wWellness sSpecialist. The individual treatment team has continuous responsibility to: 1) be knowledgeable about the individual’s life,

circumstances, goals and desires; 2) collaborate with the client to develop and write the treatment plan; 3) offer options and choices in the treatment plan; 4) ensure that immediate changes are made as an individual's needs change; and 5) advocate for the client's wishes, rights, and preferences.

(15) "Initial Assessment and Individualized Treatment Plan" as it pertains to the ACT program ~~is~~ means the initial evaluation of:

(1a) ~~†~~The individual's mental and functional status;

(2b) ~~†~~The effectiveness of past treatment; and

(3c) ~~†~~The current treatment, rehabilitation, and support service needs. The results of the information gathering and analysis are used to establish the initial treatment plan to support recovery and help the individual achieve ~~his or her~~their goals.

(16) "Large ACT Team" means an ACT team serving 80 ~~†~~to 120 individuals.

(17) "Life ~~S~~skills ~~T~~training" means training that helps individuals develop skills and access resources needed to increase their capacity to be successful and satisfied in the living, working, learning, and social environments of their choice.

(18) "Medication Management" ~~is~~ means the prescribing and ~~or~~ administering and reviewing of medications and their side effects, ~~include~~ings both pharmacological management as well as supports and training to the individual. For the purposes of ~~Assertive Community Treatment (ACT)~~, medication management is a collaborative effort between the individual receiving services and the prescribing psychiatrist or psychiatric nurse practitioner with the ACT treatment team.

(19) "Mid-Size Act Team" means ~~a~~ ACT team serving between 41 and 79 individuals.

(20) "Natural Supports" means personal associations and relationships typically developed in the community that enhance the quality and security of life for ~~individuals~~people, including, but not limited to, family relationships, friendships reflecting the diversity of the neighborhood and the community, association with fellow students or employees in regular classrooms and work places, and associations developed though participation in clubs, organizations, and other civic activities.

(21) "Psychiatry ~~S~~services" ~~for the purposes of the ACT program in Oregon~~ means the prescribing and ~~or~~ administering and reviewing of medications and their side effects, ~~include~~ings both pharmacological management as well as supports and training to the individual. Psychiatry services must be provided by a psychiatrist or a psychiatric nurse practitioner ~~who is~~ licensed by the Oregon Medical Board.

(22) "Single Point of Contact" (SPOC) ~~is~~ means a designated individual(~~s~~) in a service region that is responsible for coordinating ~~and~~, tracking referrals to ACT programs within their geographic service area.

(23) "Small ACT Team" means an ACT team serving between ~~ten~~ to 40 individuals.

(24) “Symptom Management” means to prevent or treat as early as possible the symptoms of a disease, side effects caused by treatment of a disease, and psychological, social, and spiritual problems related to a disease or its treatment.

(25) “Telepsychiatry” as it pertains to the ACT program means the application of telemedicine to the specialty field of psychiatry. The term typically describes the delivery of psychiatric assessment and care through telecommunications technology, usually videoconferencing.

(26) “Time-unlimited Services” means services that are provided not on the basis of predetermined timelines but if as long as they are medically appropriate.

(27) “Vocational Services” for the purposes of the ACT program in Oregon means employment support services that will lead to competitive integrated employment. The Division encourages the use of fidelity IPS Supported Employment for providing vocational services within the ACT program.

(28) “Warm Handoff” has the meaning given that term in OAR 309-032-0860.

(28) “Warm Handoff” means the process of transferring an individual from one provider to another, prior to discharge, which includes face-to-face meeting(s) with an individual, and which coordinates the transfer of responsibility for the individual’s ongoing care and continuing treatment and services. A warm handoff shall either:

(a) include a face-to-face meeting with the community provider and the individual, and if possible, hospital staff, or

(b) provide a transitional team to support the individual, serve as a bridge between the hospital and the community provider, and ensure that the individual connects with the community provider.

(29) For warm handoffs under subparagraph (b), the transitional team shall meet face to face with the individual, and if possible, with hospital staff, prior to discharge. Face-to-face in person meetings are preferable for warm handoffs. However, a face-to-face meeting may be accomplished through technological solutions that provide two-way video-like communication on a secure line (“telehealth”), when either distance is a barrier to an in person meeting or individualized clinical criteria support the use of telehealth.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630

### **309-019-0226**

#### **ACT Assertive Community Treatment (ACT) Overview**

(1) The Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA) characterizes ACT as an evidence-based practice for individuals with a serious and persistent mental illness. ACT is characterized by:

- (a) A team approach;
- (b) Community based;
- (c) A small client to staff caseload, typically 10:1, to consistently provide necessary staffing diversity and coverage;
- (d) Time-unlimited services;
- (e) Flexible service delivery;
- (f) A fixed point of responsibility; and
- (g) 24/7 availability crisis for response to psychiatric crisis availability.

(2) ACT services must include, but are not limited to:

- (a) Hospital discharge planning, including OSH region State Hospital and acute care psychiatric hospitals;
- (b) Case management;
- (c) Symptom management;
- (d) Psychiatry services;
- (e) Nursing services;
- (f) Co-occurring substance use and mental health disorders treatment services;
- (g) Vocational Individual Placement and Support (IPS) supported employment services;
- (h) Life skills training; and
- (i) Peer support delivered services.

(32) SAMHSA characterizes a high fidelity ACT pProgram as one that includes the following staff members:

- (a) Psychiatrist or Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner;
- (b) Psychiatric Nurse(s);
- (c) Qualified Mental Health Professional (QMHP) ACT Team Supervisor;
- (d) Qualified Mental Health Professional(s) (QMHP) Mental Health Clinician;
- (e) Substance Abuse Treatment Specialist;
- (f) Employment Specialist;
- (g) Mental Health Case Manager; and Housing Specialist;



(h) Certified Peer Support Specialist, Mental Health Case Manager; and

~~(i) Certified Peer Support Specialist.~~

(43) SAMHSA characterizes ~~a~~ high fidelity ACT pPrograms as ~~one-those~~ that adheres to the following ~~protocols~~:

(a) Providing on-of Eexplicit admission criteria ~~that has~~with an identified mission to serve a particular population ~~utilizing and uses using measurable~~ quantitative and operationally defined criteria;

(b) Managing intake rates~~.~~; ACT eligible individuals are admitted to the program at a low rate to maintain a stable service environment;

(c) Maintaining fFull responsibility for treatment services ~~which-that~~ includes, at a minimum, the services required under OAR 309-019-0230(2)(a) – (i)~~(case management, psychiatric services, counseling/psychotherapy, housing support, substance abuse treatment, employment and rehabilitative services;~~

(d) Twenty-four -hour responsibility for covering psychiatric crises;

(e) Involvement in ~~psychiatric~~ hospital admissions, including OSH Oregon State Hospital and acute care psychiatric hospitals;

(f) Involvement in planning for hospital discharges, including OSH Oregon State Hospital and acute care psychiatric hospitals; and

(g) As long as medically appropriate, Timetime-unlimited services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205-430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270

## **309-019-0230**

### **ACT Provider Qualifications**

(1) In order to be eligible for Medicaid or State General Fund reimbursement, ACT services shall be provided only by those providers meeting the following minimum qualifications:

(a) The provider must hold and maintain a ~~current~~ certificate issued under the authority established in OAR chapter 309- division 008; issued by the Division; for the purpose of providing outpatient behavioral health treatment services; and

(b) The provider must hold and maintain a ~~current~~ certificate, issued by the Division, under OAR 309-019-02~~2540~~ through ~~309-019-02545~~, for the purpose of providing ACT Assertive Community Treatment; and

(c) A provider certified to provide ACT services ~~under this rule~~ must be reviewed annually for fidelity adherence by the Division approved reviewer and achieve a minimum score of 114 on the fidelity scale. Providers ~~shall~~ may not bill Medicaid or use General Funds for the provision of ACT services unless they complete ~~are subject to~~ an annual fidelity review by the Division approved reviewer.

(A) The Division approved reviewer shall forward a copy of the annual fidelity review report to the Division and provide a copy of the review to the provider.

(B) The provider shall forward a copy of the annual fidelity review report to the appropriate CCO.

(2) A ~~p~~Provider already holding a certificate of approval under OAR chapter 309 - division 008 may request the addition of ACT services be added to their certificate of approval using ~~via~~ the procedure outlined in OAR 309-008-0400 and 309-008-1000(1). In addition to application materials required in OAR chapter 309- division 008 and this rule, ~~the~~ provider must also submit to the Division a letter of support ~~which that~~ indicates receipt of technical assistance and training from the Division approved ACT reviewer.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

## **309-019-0235**

### **Continued Fidelity Requirements**

(1) In addition to the minimum requirements established in OAR 309-019-0230, ~~in order~~ to maintain an ACT provider designation on the Division issued certificate, a provider must submit to their CCO an annual fidelity review report by the Division approved reviewer with a minimum score of 114.

~~(2) Providers certified to provide ACT services under this rule that achieve a fidelity score of 128 or better when reviewed by the Division Approved ACT Reviewer are eligible to extend their fidelity review period to every 18 months.~~

~~(a) Extension of Fidelity reviews a certification period~~ has no bearing on the frequency or scope of fidelity reviews or re-certification reviews required under OAR 309-008.

(32) Fidelity reviews ~~shall~~ will be conducted utilizing the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services ACT Toolkit Fidelity Scale, which ~~the Division shall make~~ will be made available to providers electronically.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### **309-019-0240**

#### **Failure to Meet Fidelity Standards**

(1) In addition to any plan of correction requirements issued by the Division under OAR 309-008-0800(4)(c), ~~if a certified provider certified under these rules to provide for the provision of ACT services~~ does not receive a minimum score of 114 on any fidelity review, the following shall occur:

(a) Technical assistance shall be made available by the Division approved reviewer to address problem areas identified in the fidelity review.

~~(b) Technical assistance shall will be available for a period of 90 days from the date of the fidelity review where the provider scored below the minimum established in section one of this rule; to address problem areas identified in the fidelity review~~

~~(c)~~ At the end of the 90 day period, a follow-up review ~~will~~ shall be conducted by the Division approved reviewer; ~~and~~

~~(d)~~ The provider shall forward a copy of the amended fidelity review report to the provider's appropriate CCO; ~~and~~

~~(e)~~ The Division approved reviewer shall forward a copy of the fidelity review report to the Division.

(2) In addition to the standards set for suspension and revocation of a certificate in OAR 309-008-1100(1) and (2), a provider of ACT services may also have their certificate of approval suspended or revoked if the 90 day re-review results in a fidelity score of less than 114.

(3) A provider issued a notice of intent to apply a condition, revoke, suspend, or refusal to renew its certificate under these rules shall be entitled to request a hearing in accordance with ORS Chapter 183 and OAR 309-008-1300.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205- 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~  
~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010,~~  
~~430.205- 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 -~~  
~~813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### **309-019-0241**

#### **Waiver of Minimum Fidelity Requirements**

~~(1) HSDThe Division may grant a waiver of minimum ACT fidelity requirements and extend an ACT program's certification period if so long as the waiver to the requirement would not diminish the effectiveness of the ACT model, violate the purposes of the program, or adversely affect the program participants' health and welfare:~~

~~(a) Waivers cannotmay not be granted whichthat are inconsistent with the individual participant's rights or federal, state, or local laws and regulations.;~~

~~(b) HSDwillThe Division shall review waivers to minimum fidelity requirements on a case-by-case basis.~~

~~(2) Waivers granted to ACT minimum fidelity requirements shall will result in an extension to the ACT program's certification period. An ACT program that is an HSDa Division approved waiver period is eligible to receive Medicaid and State General Fund reimbursement for ACT services se as long asif the ACT program meets the following criteria:~~

~~(a) The ACT program must receive technical assistance from the Division approved reviewer and develop a plan to meet the minimum fidelity requirements; and~~

~~(b) The ACT program shall notify the appropriate CCO that the program is operating under an HSDthe Division approved waiver of minimum fidelity requirements.~~

~~(3) HSDThe Division shall grant waivers of minimum fidelity requirements for a period that shall may not exceed 180 days.~~

~~(4) A waiver of minimum fidelity requirements may only be granted to ACT programs that have received a fidelity review within 12 months prior to the request.~~

~~(5) Requests for a waiver of minimum fidelity requirements shall be submitted to the Division's ACT program coordinator for approval.~~

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042, 430.256, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 430.010, 430.205- 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168~~

~~**Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640**~~  
~~**Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010,**~~  
~~**430.205- 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 -**~~  
~~**813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270**~~

### **309-019-0242**

## ACT Program Operational Standards

(1) ~~Hours of operation.~~ All ACT teams must be available seven days a week, 24 hours a day by direct phone link and regularly accessible to individuals who work or ~~who~~ are involved in other scheduled vocational or rehabilitative services during the daytime hours. ACT teams may utilize split staff assignment schedules to achieve coverage.

(2) ~~Crisis intervention.~~ ACT teams are primarily responsible for crisis response and for after-hours calls related to individuals they serve. The ACT team must operate continuous and direct after-hours on-call system with staff experienced in the program and skilled in crisis intervention procedures. The ACT team must have the capacity to respond rapidly to emergencies, both in person and by telephone. To ensure direct access to the ACT team, ~~recipient~~ individuals must be given a phone list with the responsible ACT staff to contact after hours.

### (3) Service Intensity:

(a) The ACT team must have the capacity to provide the frequency and duration of staff-to-~~recipient~~ individual contact required by each ~~recipient~~ individual's individualized service plan and their immediate needs;

(b) The ACT team must provide a minimum of 40 percent% of all services in-community as demonstrated by the average in-community encounters reviewed in case record reviews;

(c) The ACT team must have the capacity to increase and decrease contacts based upon daily assessment of the individual's clinical need, with a goal of maximizing independence;

(d) The team must have the capacity to provide multiple contacts to ~~person~~ individuals in high need and a rapid response to early signs of relapse;

(e) The ~~ACT~~ team must have the capacity to provide support and skills development services to individuals' natural supports and collateral contacts;

(f) Natural supports and collateral contacts may include family, friends, landlords, or employers, consistent with the service plan. Natural supports and collateral contacts are typically not supports that are paid for services;

(g) The ACT team Psychiatrist and the Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner (PNP) must have scheduling flexibility to accommodate individual needs. If the individual will not come to meet the Psychiatrist ~~and/or~~ the PNP at the ACT office, the Psychiatrist ~~and/or~~ PNP must provide services as clinically indicated for that individual in the community. Secure telepsychiatry may be used ~~is also acceptable~~ when clinically indicated;

(h) The ACT team must have the capacity to provide services via group modalities as clinically appropriate, including but not limited to ~~e.g., for~~ individuals with substance abuse disorders, and for family psychoeducation and wellness self-management services.

(4) ~~ACT Staffing Requirements.~~ An ACT team shall have sufficient staffing to meet the varying needs of individuals. As an all-inclusive treatment program, a variety of expertise must be represented on the team. ~~ACT team~~ Staffing must be ~~is to be~~ clearly defined and dedicated to the operation of the team.

(5) Staffing Guidelines for ACT teams:

(a) A single ACT team ~~cannot~~may not serve more than 120 individuals unless:

(A) It is expanding for the expressed purpose of splitting into two ACT teams within a 12-month period; and

(B) It hires the appropriate staff to meet the required 1:10 staff ratio to individuals served ratio.

(b) ACT team individual to clinical staff ratio may not ~~cannot~~ exceed 10:1;

(c) ACT team staff must be comprised of individual staff members in which a portion or all of their job responsibilities are defined as providing ACT services;

(d) Other than for coverage when a staff member has a leave of absence, ACT teams ~~shall~~may not rotate staff members into the ACT team that are not specifically assigned to the team as part of their position's job responsibilities.;

(6) No individual ACT staff member ~~should~~shall be assigned less than .20 FTE for their role on the team unless filling the role of psychiatrist or PNP. The ACT team psychiatrist or PNP may not be assigned less than .10 FTE}.

(7) Maximum ACT team staffing requirements: ACT teams ~~will~~may not exceed the following upper staffing limits:

(a) No more than eight ~~(8)~~ individual staff members per small ACT team;

(b) No more than 12 individual staff members per mid-size ACT team.;

(~~b~~c) No more than 18 individual staff members per large ACT team.

(8) ACT team staffing is multi-disciplinary. The core minimum staffing for an ACT team includes:

(a) A tTeam lLeader This position that shall is to be occupied by only one personindividual. The team leader is a QMHP level clinician qualified to provide direct supervision to all ACT staff except the psychiatric care provider and nurse. Pursuant to er the table in OAR 309-019-0242 (13), the Team Leader FTE is dictated by the number of individuals served by ehthe ACT team; as follows:

(A) Small ACT teams: .5 FTE;

(B) Mid-sized ACT teams: 1.0 FTE; and

(C) Large ACT teams: 1.0 FTE

(b) Pursuant to er the table in OAR 309-019-0242 (11), Psychiatric Care Provider (Psychiatrist or PNP) FTE is dictated by the number of individuals served by ehthe ACT team; as follows:



~~(A) Small ACT teams: Minimum Psychiatric Care Provider FTE is .10 staffing 4 hours each week for 10 ACT individuals and should reflect the equivalent of 1.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases, e.g. .20 FTE for 20 individuals; .35 FTE for 35 individuals; .40 FTE for 40 individuals;~~

~~(B) Mid-sized ACT teams: Minimum Psychiatric Care Provider FTE is .40 FTE staffing 16 hours each week and should reflect the equivalent of 1.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases FTE; and~~

~~(C) Large ACT teams: Minimum Psychiatric Care Provider FTE is .80 FTE staffing 32 hours each week and should reflect the equivalent of 1.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases~~

~~(c) Pursuant to ~~er~~ the table in OAR 309-019-0242 (11), the Nurse FTE is dictated by the number of individuals served by ~~eh~~the ACT team; ~~;~~ as follows:~~

~~(A) Small ACT teams: Minimum Nurse FTE is .20 FTE for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;~~

~~(B) Mid-sized ACT teams: Minimum Nurse FTE is .80 FTE for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases; and~~

~~(C) Large ACT teams: Minimum Nurse FTE is 1.60 FTE for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases.~~

~~(d) The Program ~~A~~Administrative ~~A~~Assistant FTE is not counted in the clinical staff ratio.~~

~~(9) ~~Other clinical staff to achieve minimum staffing per ACT team model~~ACT team minimum staffing must include clinical staff with the following FTE and specialized competencies:~~

~~(a) Pursuant to ~~er~~ the table in OAR 309-019-0242 (11), the Substance Abuse Specialist FTE is dictated by the number of individuals served by the ACT ~~team~~, ~~team~~ as follows:~~

~~(A) Small ACT teams: Minimum Substance Abuse Specialist FTE is 20 FTE SAS time for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;~~

~~(B) Mid-sized ACT teams: Minimum Substance Abuse Specialist FTE is .80 FTE SAS time for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases; and~~

~~(C) Large ACT teams: Minimum Substance Abuse Specialist FTE is 1.60 FTE SAS time for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;~~

~~(A ~~D~~) Substance Abuse Specialist specialized competencies must include:~~

~~(iAi) Substance abuse assessment and substance abuse diagnosis;~~

~~(iiBii) Principles and practices of harm reduction;~~

(iii) Knowledge and application of motivational interviewing strategies.

(b) Pursuant to the table in OAR 309-019-0242 (11), the Employment Specialist FTE is dictated by the number of individuals served by the ACT team, as follows:

(A) Small ACT teams: Minimum Employment Specialist FTE is 20 FTE SAS time for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;

(B) Mid-sized ACT teams: Minimum Employment Specialist FTE is .80 FTE SAS time for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases; and

(C) Large ACT teams: Minimum Employment Specialist FTE is 1.60 FTE for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;

(A) Employment Specialist specialized competencies must include:

(i) Competency in the IPS Supported Employment fidelity model;

(ii) Vocational assessment;

(iii) Job exploration and matching to recipient individual's interest and strengths;

(iv) Skills development related to choosing, securing, and maintaining employment.;

(c) Pursuant to the table in OAR 309-019-0242 (11), the Peer Support and Wellness Specialist FTE is dictated by the number of individuals served by the ACT team, as follows:

(A) Small ACT teams: Minimum Peer Support and Wellness Specialist FTE is 20 FTE for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;

(B) Mid-sized ACT teams: Minimum Peer Support and Wellness Specialist FTE is .80 FTE for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases; and

(C) Large ACT teams: Minimum Peer Support and Wellness Specialist FTE is 1.60 FTE for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 individuals as the number of individuals increases;

(D) Employment Specialist specialized competencies must include:

(i) Trained by an OHA Approved (d) See a Certified Peer Support Specialist or Peer Wellness Specialist Training Program as described in OAR 410-180-0300 and- 410-180-0380. A directory registry of Approved certified Peer Support Specialist Specialists and Specialists and Peer Wellness Specialist Specialists Training Programs may can be found at the Office of Equity and Inclusion's Division's Peer Delivered Services Traditional Health Worker's website.; and

~~(iiB) Be an OHA Office of Equity and Inclusion (OEI) Certified Peer Support Specialist or Peer Wellness Specialist before providing ACT services.~~

(10) ACT Team Staffing Core Competencies:-

(a) ~~At hire, Upon hiring,~~ all clinical staff on an ACT team must have experience in providing direct services related to the treatment and recovery of individuals with a serious and persistent mental illness. Staff ~~shall~~~~should~~ be selected consistent with the ACT core operating principles and values. Clinical staff ~~shall~~ have demonstrated competencies in clinical documentation and motivational interviewing;

(b) All staff ~~will~~~~shall~~ demonstrate basic core competencies in designated areas of practice, including the Assertive Community Treatment core principles, integrated mental health and substance abuse treatment, supported employment, psycho-education, and wellness self-management;

(c) All staff must ~~complete ACT~~ receive ACT 101 training from the Division approved reviewer prior to receiving ~~HSD~~~~the Division~~ provisional certification; and

(d) All professional ACT team staff must ~~have obtained~~~~obtain~~ the appropriate licensure to provide services in Oregon for their respective area of specialization.

(11) ACT Team Size Staff (FTE) to Individual Ratio Table:

	<u>Small or Micro Team (10 to 40 individuals)</u>	<u>Mid-size team (between 41 and 79 individuals)</u>	<u>Large Team (80-120 individuals)</u>
<u><b>Staff to individual ratio:</b> includes all team members except the psychiatric care provider and program assistants</u>	<u>1 team member per 10 individuals</u>	<u>1 team member per 10 individuals</u>	<u>1 team member per 10 individuals</u>
<u><b>Team Leader:</b> This position is to be occupied by only one <del>person</del><del>individual</del>. The team leader is a QMHP level clinician qualified by OARs to provide direct supervision to all ACT staff (except psychiatric care provider and nurse)</u>	<u>One team leader (.50 FTE to 1.0 FTE)</u>	<u>One full-time team leader (1.0 FTE)</u>	<u>One full-time team leader (1.0 FTE)</u>
<u><b>Psychiatric Care Provider:</b> (Psychiatrist or Psychiatric Nurse Practitioner) Prorating</u>	<u>Minimum FTE is .10 (4 hours each week) for 10 ACT participants and should reflect the</u>	<u>Minimum FTE is .40 FTE (16 hours each week) and should reflect the equivalent of</u>	<u>Minimum FTE is .80 FTE (32 hours each week) and should reflect the equivalent of</u>

<u>of FTE allowed given number of individuals served. No more than two psychiatric care providers per ACT team</u>	<u>equivalent of 1.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases (.20 FTE for 20 individuals; .35 FTE for 35 individuals; .40 FTE for 40 individuals)</u>	<u>1.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases</u>	<u>1.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases</u>
<b><u>Nurses:</u></b> <u>Registered Nurses (RN) or Advanced Practice Registered Nurse (APRN) may fill this position. Prorating of FTE allowed given number of individuals actually served.</u>	<u>Minimum of .20 FTE RN time for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>	<u>Minimum of .80 FTE RN time for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>	<u>Minimum of 1.60 FTE RN time for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>
<b><u>Substance Abuse Specialist (SAS):</u></b> <u>QMHP or QMHA with a minimum of one year experience providing substance abuse treatment services (CADC 1 or above preferred to meet this credential)</u>	<u>Minimum of .20 FTE SAS time for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>	<u>Minimum of .80 FTE SAS time for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>	<u>Minimum of 1.60 FTE SAS time for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>
<b><u>Peer Specialist:</u></b> <u>An Oregon certified peer support specialist who has a mental health diagnosis themselves for which they have received treatment and is willing to self-disclose their lived experience</u>	<u>Minimum FTE is .10.FTE is flexible based on peer preference and staffing needs of the ACT team.</u>	<u>Minimum FTE is .40.FTE is flexible based on peer preference and staffing needs of the ACT team. More than one peer may perform this role.</u>	<u>Minimum FTE is .80.FTE is flexible based on peer preference and staffing needs of the ACT team. More than one peer may perform this role.</u>
<b><u>Vocational Specialist:</u></b> <u>QMHP or QMHA with one year experience providing employment services that focus on competitive employment outcomes.</u>	<u>Minimum of .20 FTE SA time for 10 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>	<u>Minimum of .80 FTE SA time for 40 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>	<u>Minimum of 1.60 FTE SA time for 80 individuals, and should reflect the equivalent of 2.0 FTE per 100 clients as the number of individuals increases.</u>
<b><u>Program Administrative</u></b>	<u>.50 FTE ACT dedicated office</u>	<u>.50 - 1.0 FTEACT dedicated office</u>	<u>1.0 FTE ACT dedicated office</u>

<u>Assistant A program office manager or administrative assistant is highly recommended to be dedicated to the ACT team</u>	<u>manager/administrative assistant is highly recommended</u>	<u>manager/administrative assistant is highly recommended</u>	<u>manager/administrative assistant is highly recommended</u>
<u>Additional Staff (QMHP and or QMHA level mental health clinicians, housing specialists, case managers) to meet the ACT fidelity ratio of 1 staff for 10 individuals served</u>	<u>0-2.5additional FTE may be required to meet the 1:10 staff to individual ratio and provide comprehensive services ACT recipients need</u>	<u>0-4.0 additional FTE may be required to meet the 1:10 staff to individual ratio and provide comprehensive services ACT recipients need</u>	<u>1-6.0 additional FTE may be required to meet the 1:10 staff to individual ratio and provide comprehensive services ACT recipients need</u>

(4112) ACT Team meetings. The ACT team shall conduct daily organizational staff meetings at least four ~~(4)~~ days per week and regularly scheduled times per a schedule established by the team leader. These meetings ~~will~~shall be conducted in accordance with the following procedures:

(a) The ACT team shall maintain in writing:

(A) A roster of the individuals served in the program; and

(B) For each individual, a brief documentation of any treatment or service contacts that have occurred during the last 24 hours and a concise, behavioral description of the individual's status that day.;

(b) The daily organizational staff meeting includes a review of the treatment contacts ~~which~~that occurred the day before and provides a systematic means for the team to assess the day-to-day progress and status of all clients.;

(c) During the daily organizational staff meeting, the ACT team shall also revise treatment plans as needed, plan for emergency and crisis situations, and add service contacts to the daily staff assignment schedule per the revised treatment plans.

(4213) Treatment planning meetings. The ACT team shall conduct treatment planning meetings under the supervision of the team leader and the Psychiatrist or PNP. These treatment planning meetings shall:

(a) Convene at regularly scheduled times per a written schedule set by the team leader;

(b) Occur and be scheduled when the majority of the team members can attend, including the psychiatrist or psychiatric nurse practitioner, team leader, and all members of the treatment team;

(c) Require individual staff members to present and systematically review and integrate an individual's information into a holistic analysis and prioritize problems; and

(d) Occur with sufficient frequency and duration to make it possible for all staff to:

(A) Be familiar with each individual and their goals and aspirations;

(B) Participate in the ongoing assessment and reformulation of problems;

(C) Problem-solve treatment strategies and rehabilitation options;

(D) Participate with the individual and the treatment team in the development and the revision of the treatment plan; and

(E) Fully understand the treatment plan rationale in order to carry out each individual's plan.

(1314) ACT Assessment and Individualized Treatment Planning:;

(a) An initial assessment and treatment plan is completed upon each individual's admission to the ACT program; and

(b) Individualized treatment plans for ACT team-served individuals must be updated at least every six-~~(6)~~ months.

(1415) Service Note Content:;

(a) More than one intervention, activity, or goal may be reported in one service note, if applicable:;

(b) ACT team staff must complete a service note for each contact or intervention provided to an individual. Each service note must include all of the following:

(A) Individual's name;

(B) Medicaid identification number or client identification number;

(C) Date of service provision;

(D) Name of service provided;

(E) Type of contact;

(F) Place of service;

(G) Purpose of the contact as it relates to the goal(s) on the individual's Treatment Plan;

(H) Description of the intervention provided. Documentation of the intervention must accurately reflect substance abuse related treatment for the duration of time indicated;

(I) ~~Duration of service:~~ Amount of time spent performing the intervention;

(J) Assessment of the effectiveness of the intervention and the individual's progress towards the individual's goal;



(K) Signature and credentials or job title of the staff member who provided the service; and

(L) Each service note page must be identified with the beneficiary's name and client identification number.

(c) Documentation of discharge or transition to lower levels of care must include all of the following:

(A) The reasons for discharge or transition as stated by both the individual and the ACT team;

(B) The individual's biopsychosocial status at discharge or transition;

(C) A written final evaluation summary of the individual's progress toward the goals set forth in the Person-Centered Treatment Plan;

(D) A plan for follow-up treatment, developed in conjunction with the Individual; and

(E) The signatures of the individual, the team leader, and the Psychiatrist or PNP.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

## **309-019-0245**

### **Admission Criteria**

(1) Participants must meet the mMedically aAppropriate standard as designated in OAR 309-019-0105. Participants who are mMedically aAppropriate must have the following characteristics:

(a) Participants diagnosed with severe and persistent mental illness as listed in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual, Fifth Edition (DSM V) of the American Psychiatric Association that seriously impair their functioning in community living. Priority is given to people with schizophrenia, other psychotic disorders (e.g., schizoaffective disorder), and bipolar disorder because these illnesses more often cause long-term psychiatric disability;

(b) Individuals with a primary diagnosis of a substance use disorder, or intellectual developmental disabilities, or borderline personality disorder, or traumatic brain injury, or an autism spectrum disorder are not the intended recipients of ACT and should may not be referred to ACT if they do not have a co-occurring, qualifying psychiatric disorder;

~~(c) Participants with other psychiatric illnesses are eligible dependent on the level of the long-term disability. (Individuals with a primary diagnosis of a substance abuse disorder or intellectual disabilities are not the intended client group.)~~

(d) Participants with significant functional impairments as demonstrated by at least one of the following conditions:

(A) Significant difficulty consistently performing the range of practical daily living tasks required for basic adult functioning in the community (e.g., caring for personal business

affairs; obtaining medical, legal, and housing services; recognizing and avoiding common dangers or hazards to self and possessions; meeting nutritional needs; maintaining personal hygiene) or persistent or recurrent difficulty performing daily living tasks except with significant support or assistance from others such as friends, family, or relatives;

(B) Significant difficulty maintaining consistent employment at a self-sustaining level or significant difficulty consistently carrying out the homemaker role (e.g., household meal preparation, washing clothes, budgeting, or child-care tasks and responsibilities);

(C) Significant difficulty maintaining a safe living situation (e.g., repeated evictions or loss of housing).

(e) Participants with one or more of the following problems, which are indicators of continuous high service needs (i.e., greater than eight hours per month):

(A) High use of acute care psychiatric hospitals ~~(e.g., two or more admissions per year) or emergency departments for psychiatric reasons, including~~ psychiatric emergency services as defined in OAR 309-023-0110 (e.g., two or more readmissions in a six month period);

(B) Intractable (i.e., persistent or very recurrent) severe major symptoms ~~(e.g., affective, psychotic, suicidal);~~

(C) Coexisting substance abuse disorder of significant duration (e.g., greater than six months);

(D) High risk or recent history of criminal justice involvement (e.g., arrest, incarceration);

(E) Significant difficulty meeting basic survival needs, residing in substandard housing, homelessness, or imminent risk of becoming homeless;

(F) Residing in an inpatient or supervised community residence in the community where ACT services are available, but clinically assessed to be able to live in a more independent living situation if intensive services are provided, or requiring a residential or institutional placement if more intensive services are not available;

(G) Difficulty effectively utilizing traditional office-based outpatient services.

(2) The ACT program provides community-based, long-term or time-unlimited services and is not intended to be in and of itself a transitional program.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270

**309-019-0248**

## Admission Process

(1) A comprehensive assessment as described in OAR 309-019-0105(6) that demonstrates medical appropriateness must be completed prior to the provision of this service. If a substantially equivalent assessment is available, that reflects current level of functioning, and contains standards consistent with OAR 309-019-0135, to include sufficient information and documentation to justify the presence of a diagnosis that is the medically appropriate reason for services, the equivalent assessment may be used to determine admission eligibility for the program.

(2) Admission to ACT is managed through a referral process that is coordinated by a designated single point of contact (SPOC) that represents the Coordinated Care Organization's (CCO) and ~~the/or~~ Community Mental Health Program's (CMHP) geographical service area.

(a) The designated single point of contact shall accept referrals and verify the required documentation supports and the referral for services when an approximate, reasonable date of admission to the ACT program is anticipated.

(b) ~~OHA-The Authority will~~ shall work with the CCOs and the CMHPs to identify regional SPOCs.

(c) ~~OHA-The Authority will~~ shall work with the CCOs and the CMHPs to identify a process where referrals can be received and tracked.

(3) An admission decision by the designated SPOC must be completed and reported to the Division within seven ~~(7)~~ business days of receiving the referral. To accomplish this, the SPOC must be fully informed as to the current capacity of ACT programs within the SPOC's geographic service area at all times.

(4) All referrals for ACT services must be submitted through the designated regional SPOC, regardless of the origin of the referral when an approximate, reasonable date of admission to the ACT program is anticipated. The designated regional SPOC shall accept and evaluate referrals from mental health outpatient programs, residential treatment facilities or homes, families ~~and~~/or individuals, and other referring sources.

(5) Given the severity of mental illness and functional impairment of individuals who qualify for ACT-level services, the final decision to admit a referral rests with the provider. Any referral to a provider ~~should~~ shall therefore present a full picture of the individual by means of the supporting medical documentation attached to the ~~OHA-Authority~~ Universal ACT Referral and Tracking Form and include an approximate date the referred individual will be able to enroll in an ACT program. An admission decision by the ACT services provider must be completed within five ~~(5)~~ business days of receiving the referral.

(a) The individual's decision not to take psychiatric medication is not a sufficient reason for denying admission to an ACT program.

(b) ACT capacity in a geographic regional service area is not a sufficient reason for not providing ACT services to an ACT eligible individual. If an individual who is ACT eligible cannot be served due to capacity, the SPOC must provide the individual with the option of

being added to a waiting list until such time as the ACT eligible individual may ~~can~~ be admitted to a qualified-certified ACT program~~;~~.

(A) The ACT eligible individual who is not accepted into an ACT program due to capacity will~~shall~~ be offered alternative community-based rehabilitative services as described in the Oregon Medicaid State Plan which~~that~~ includes evidence-based practices to the extent possible~~;~~.

(B) Alternative rehabilitative services will~~shall~~ be made available to the individual:

(i) Until the individual is admitted into an ACT program;

(ii) Alternative rehabilitative services are medically appropriate and meet the individual's treatment goals; or

(iii) The individual refuses alternative medically appropriate rehabilitative services.

(6) Upon the decision to admit an individual to the ACT program, the Authority's ~~OHA~~ Universal ACT Referral and Tracking Form shall be updated~~;~~ to include:

(a) An admission is indicated~~;~~.

(b) When an admission is not indicated, notation shall be made of the following:

(A) The reasons~~(s)~~ for not admitting;

(B) The disposition of the case; and

(C) Any referrals or recommendations made to the referring agency, as appropriate.

(7) Individuals who meet admission criteria and are not admitted to an ACT program due to program capacity~~;~~ may elect to be placed on a waiting list. The waiting list will be maintained by the appropriate regional SPOC. ~~OHA will~~ The Authority shall monitor each regional waiting list until sufficient ACT program capacity is developed to meet the needs of the ACT eligible population.

(8) In addition~~,~~ if an individual is denied ACT services and has met the admission criteria set forth in OAR 309-019-~~0245~~[k6], the individual who is denied services or their guardian may appeal the decision by filing a grievance in the manner set forth in OAR 309-008-1500.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205-430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

**309-019-0250**

## Transition to Less Intensive Services and Discharge

~~(1)~~ (1) Transition to less intensive services shall occur when the individual no longer requires ACT level of care and is no longer medically appropriate for ACT services.

~~(2)~~ This transition shall occur when individuals receiving ACT:

~~(1a)~~ (a) Have successfully reached individually established goals for transition;

~~(2b)~~ (b) Have successfully demonstrated an ability to function in all major role areas including but not limited to (i.e. work, social, and self-care) without ongoing assistance from the ACT provider;

~~(3c)~~ (c) ~~When the individual r~~Requests discharge ~~,or declines,~~ or refuses services;

~~(d)~~ (d) ~~When the individual M~~moves outside of the geographic area of the ACT program's responsibility. In such cases, the ACT team shall arrange for transfer of mental health service responsibility to an ACT provider or another provider wherever the individual is moving. The ACT team shall maintain contact with the individual until this service is implemented.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205-430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

### 309-019-0255

#### Reporting Requirements

(1) Providers certified by the Division to provide ACT shall submit quarterly outcomes reports, using forms and procedures prescribed by the Division.

(2) Providers shall submit quarterly outcome reports, within 45 days following the end of each subject quarter to the Division or the Division approved reviewer. Each quarterly report shall provide the following information:

(a) Individuals served;

(A) Individuals who are homeless at any point during a quarter;

(B) Individuals with safe stable housing for six months;

(C) Individuals using emergency departments during each quarter for a mental health reason;

- (D) Individuals hospitalized in OSH or in an acute psychiatric facility during each quarter;
- (E) Individuals hospitalized in an acute care psychiatric facility during each quarter;
- (F) Individuals in jail at any point during each quarter;
- (G) Individuals receiving ~~s~~Supported ~~E~~employment ~~S~~services during each quarter;
- (H) Individuals who are employed in competitive integrated employment, as defined above;
- (I2) Individuals receiving ACT services that are not enrolled in Medicaid.

(b3) Referrals and Outcomes:

- (A) Number of referrals received during each quarter;
- (B) Number of individuals accepted during each quarter;
- (C) Number of individuals admitted during each quarter; and
- (D) Number of individuals denied during each quarter and the reason for each denial.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 430.640

Stats. Implemented: ORS 161.390 - 161.400, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.254 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 743A.168

~~Stat. Auth.: ORS 161.390, 413.042, 430.256, 428.205 - 428.270, 430.640~~

~~Stats. Implemented: ORS 109.675, 161.390 - 161.400, 413.520 - 413.522, 430.010, 430.205 - 430.210, 430.240 - 430.640, 430.850 - 430.955, 461.549, 743A.168, 813.010 - 813.052 & 813.200 - 813.270~~

**Individual Placement and Support (IPS) Supported Employment Services**

**309-019-0270**

**Definitions**

(1) Competitive Integrated Employment” means full-time or part time work:

(a) At minimum wage or higher, ~~at a~~ rate that is not less than the customary rate paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by other employees who are not individuals with disabilities; and who are similarly situated in similar occupations by the same employer and who have similar training, experience, and skill; with eligibility for the level of benefits provided to other employees[k7];

(b) Aat a location where the employee interacts with other ~~person~~individuals who are not individuals with disabilities (not including supervisory personnel or individuals who are providing services to such employee) to the same extent that individuals who are not individuals with disabilities and who are in comparable positions interact with other ~~person~~individuals;



(c) as appropriate, presents opportunities for advancement that are similar to those for other employees who are not individuals with disabilities and who have similar positions.

“Competitive Integrated Employment” means full-time or part time work: at minimum wage or higher, at a rate that is not less than the customary rate paid by the employer for the same or similar work performed by other employees who are not individuals with disabilities, and who are similarly situated in similar occupations by the same employer and who have similar training, experience, and skill; with eligibility for the level of benefits provided to other employees; at a location where the employee interacts with other persons who are not individuals with disabilities (not including supervisory personnel or individuals who are providing services to such employee) to the same extent that individuals who are not individuals with disabilities and who are in comparable positions interact with other persons; and as appropriate, presents opportunities for advancement that are similar to those for other employees who are not individuals with disabilities and who have similar positions.

(2) “Division Approved Reviewer” means the Oregon Supported Employment Center for Excellence (OSECE). OSECE is the Division’s contracted entity that is responsible for conducting IPS Supported Employment fidelity reviews, training, and technical assistance to support new and existing IPS Supported Employment programs statewide.

(3) “Fidelity” for the purposes of the IPS Supported Employment program means the provider is providing services that are faithful to the evidence-based practice model and obtains a satisfactory score from the Oregon Supported Employment Center for Excellence for IPS Supported Employment as part of the their regular reviews.

(4) “Vocational Services” for the purposes of the ACT program in Oregon means employment support services that will lead to competitive integrated employment. The Division encourages specifies the use of fidelity IPS Supported Employment for providing vocational services within the ACT program, as described in OAR 309-019-0225 – 309-019-0255.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

### **309-019-0275**

#### **Individual Placement and Support (IPS) Supported Employment Overview**

(1) Supported employment is an evidence-based practice for individuals with serious mental illness.

(2) Supported employment is characterized by:

(a) Emphasis on competitive employment;

(b) Every person individual who is interested in work is eligible for services regardless of symptoms, substance use disorders, treatment decisions, or any other issue;

(c) Employment services are integrated with mental health treatment;

(d) Individuals have access to personalized benefits planning;

(e) Job search begins soon after an person individual expresses interest in working; and

(f) Client preferences for jobs and preferences for service delivery are honored;

(g) Employment specialists systematically visit employers who are selected based on job seeker preferences to learn about their business needs and hiring preferences;

(h) Job supports are individualized and continue for as long as each worker wants and needs the support.

(a) Emphasis on competitive employment;

(b) Every person who is interested in work is eligible for services regardless of symptoms, substance use disorders, treatment decisions, or any other issue;

(c) Employment services are integrated with mental health treatment;

(d) Individuals have access to personalized benefits planning;

(e) Job search begins soon after a person expresses interest in working; and

(f) Client preferences for jobs, and preferences for service delivery, are honored.

(3) Supported eEmployment services include but are not limited to:

(a) Job development;

(b) Supervision and job training;

(c) On-the-job visitation;

(d) Consultation with the employer;

(e) Job coaching;

(f) Counseling;

(g) Skills training; and/or

(h) Transportation.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

**309-019-0280**

### **Supported Employment Providers**

(1) In order Tto be eligible for Medicaid or SState GGeneral FFund reimbursement, sSupported eEmployment services shall be provided only by those providers meeting the following minimum qualifications:

(a) The provider must hold and maintain a current certificate under OAR chapter 309,- division 008, issued by the Division for the purpose of providing behavioral health treatment services; and

(b) The provider must hold and maintain a current certificate, issued by the Division, under OAR 309-019-0225 through 309-019-026055 OAR 309-019 for the purpose of providing Assertive Community Treatment; and

(be) A provider certified to provide sSupported eEmployment services under this rule must be reviewed annually for fidelity adherence by the Division approved reviewer and achieve a minimum score of 100 on the fidelity scale. Providers shall may not bill Medicaid or use gGeneral Ffunds unless they are subject to an annual fidelity review by the Division approved reviewer.;

(A) The Division approved reviewer shall forward a copy of the annual fidelity review report to the Division and provide a copy of the review to the provider.;

(B) The provider shall forward a copy of the annual fidelity review report to the appropriate CCO.

(42) To be eligible for Medicaid reimbursement, sSupported eEmployment services must be provided by a cCertified sSupported eEmployment pProvider.

(23) A pProvider already holding a certificate of approval under OAR chapter 309,- division 008, may request the addition of ACTIPS sSupported eEmployment services to their certificate of approval via the procedure outlined in OAR 309-008-0400 and 309-008-1000(1).;

(a) In addition to application materials required in OAR chapter 309, -division 008, and this rule, the provider must also submit to the Division a letter of support ~~which~~ that indicates receipt of technical assistance and training from the Division approved sSupported eEmployment reviewer.;

(b) New providers of IPS sSupported eEmployment services must submit a letter to the Division ~~which~~that indicates the intention to implement a high-fidelity IPS sSupported eEmployment program.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

### **309-019-0285**

#### **Continued Fidelity Requirements**

(1) In addition to the minimum requirements established in OAR 309-019-0275 and, in order to maintain an IPSa sSupported eEmployment provider designation on the Division issued certificate, a provider must submit to their CCO an annual fidelity review report by the Division approved reviewer with a minimum score of 100 of 125.

(2) Providers certified to provide IPS sSupported eEmployment services under this rule that achieve a fidelity score of 100 or better when reviewed by the Division Aapproved Ssupported Eemployment Rreviewer are certified for 12 months.

(a) Extension of Fidelity reviews has no bearing on the frequency of re-certification reviews required under OAR 309-008.

(3) Fidelity reviews shall willbe conducted utilizing the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Supported Employment Fidelity Scale, which shall will be made available to providers electronically.) Fidelity reviews will be conducted utilizing the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Supported Employment Fidelity Scale, which will be made available to providers electronically.

(4) Providers shall cooperate with the Division aApproved sSupported eEmployment rReviewer for the purpose of improving sSupported eEmployment sServices.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

### **309-019-0290**

#### **Failure to Meet Fidelity Standards**

(1) In addition to any plan of correction requirements issued by the Division under 309-008-0800(4)(c), if a pProvider certified under these rules to provide sSupported eEmployment services does not receive a minimum score of 100 on a fidelity review, the following shall occur:

(a) Technical assistance shall be made available by the Division approved reviewer for a period of 90 days to address problem areas identified in the fidelity review;

(b) At the end of the 90--day period, a follow-up review willshall be conducted by the Division approved reviewer; and

(c) The provider shall forward a copy of the amended fidelity review report to the provider's appropriate CCO.;

(d) The Division approved reviewer shall forward a copy of the fidelity review report to the Division.;

(2) In addition to the standards set for suspension and revocation of a certificate in OAR 309-008-1100(1) and (2), a provider of sSupported eEmployment services may also have their certificate of approval suspended or revoked if the 90--day re-review results in a fidelity score of less than 100.

(3) A provider issued a notice of intent to apply a condition, revoke, suspend, or refusal to renew its certificate under these rules shall be entitled to request a hearing in accordance with ORS Chapter 183 and OAR 309-008-1300.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

### **309-019-0295**

#### **Reporting Requirements**

(1) Providers certified by the Division to provide ~~s~~Supported ~~e~~Employment services shall submit quarterly outcomes reports, using forms and procedures prescribed by the Division, within 45 days following the end of each subject quarter to the Division or the Division approved reviewer.

(2) Each quarterly report shall provide the following information:

(~~1~~a) All individuals who received ~~s~~Supported ~~e~~Employment in the reporting quarter.;

(~~a~~b) Individuals who received ~~s~~Supported ~~e~~Employment services who are employed in competitive integrated employment; and

(~~c~~b) Individuals who discontinued receiving ~~S~~upported ~~e~~Employment services and are employed in competitive integrated employment; and

(~~d~~e) Individuals who received ~~s~~Supported ~~E~~mployment services as a part of the Assertive Community Treatment ~~p~~Program.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats Implemented: 430.630

#### **Crisis Line Services**

### **309-019-0300**

#### **Service Requirements**

(1) Crisis line services must be provided directly or through linkages to a crisis line services provider 24/7.

(2) ~~Crisis line services and~~ shall include, but ~~is~~ is not limited to:

(~~1~~a) 24/7 accessibility to a QMHP;

(b) 24/7 bi-lingual or interpreter availability;

(c) 24/7 telephone screening to determine ~~the~~ need for immediate intervention;

(d) 24/7 linkage to emergency services providers, including first responders, and mobile crisis services;

(e) Best practice ~~risk~~ assessment, including suicide risk assessment;

(f) Suicide intervention, prevention, and postvention;

(~~x~~g) Lethal means counseling and safety planning for individuals at risk for suicide;

(eh) Crisis intervention;

(ih) Crisis plan development;

(ij) Triage;

(ik) Assisting the person individual to remain in the community environment, whenever possible, based on ~~ans~~ assessment of risk factors;

~~(a)~~ (Lk) Providing information regarding services and resources in the community; and

~~(xx)m~~ Procedures for de-escalation for calls from suicidal individuals; and

~~(mo)~~ Referrals to treatment providers, when appropriate.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042 430.640

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630, 430.640, 430.644 - 430.646

### **309-019-0305**

#### **Provider Standards**

(1) Crisis line services providers must develop and implement written policies and procedures to address provider standards.

~~(a)~~ (2) Provider standards ~~the following standards, shall include~~ing but is not limited to:

(4a) Training curriculum and ongoing education programs to meet training requirements;

(2b) Coordination with other treatment providers~~ss,~~ including mobile crisis services and other crisis line services providers, to support seamless transitions of care;

(3c) Linkages to emergency services providers, including first responders, to address imminent risks and to support seamless transitions of care;

(4d) De-escalation procedures;

(5e) Follow-up procedures, when indicated and appropriate;

(6f) Referral processes to other treatment providers;

(7g) Documentation;

(8h) Code of ethics; and

(i9) Security of information protocols.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042 430.640

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630, 430.640, 430.644 - 430.646Stat. Auth.: ORS 430.640



Stats Implemented

**309-019-0310**

**Minimum Staffing Requirements**

(1) At least ~~(1)~~one QMHP must be available, by phone or face-to-face, 24/7 for consultation.

(2) At least one~~(1)~~ QMHP shall provide regular clinical supervision to staff.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042 430.640

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630, 430.640, 430.644 - 430.646

**309-019-0315**

**Training Requirements**

(1) Staff training curriculum shall include but is not limited to:

(a) Triage protocol;

(b) Referral resources;

(c) Crisis plan development;

(d) Screening for a Declaration for Mental Health Treatment;

(2) Staff training curriculum shall include best practices for the following:

(a) Risk assessment, including suicide risk assessment;

(b) Suicide intervention, prevention, and postvention;

(c) Safety planning;

(d) Lethal means counseling;

(e) De-escalation methods;

(f) Crisis intervention;

(g) Recovery support, including peer delivered services;

(h) Trauma informed care; and

(i) Cultural awareness.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042 430.640

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630, 430.640, 430.644 - 430.646

**309-019-0320**

## Documentation requirements

~~(a)~~ (1) Documentation of calls shall include, but is not limited to:

~~(b)~~ (a) Summary of presenting concern, assessment of risk factors, interventions, evaluation of interventions, the plan for the management and resolution of the crisis or emergency situation reported, referrals to other services, and collaboration that occurred with emergency services providers or other treatment providers, when appropriate;

~~(c)~~ (b) If a suicide risk assessment was completed; ~~when appropriate;~~

~~(d)~~ (c) Summary of safety planning and lethal means counseling. ~~when appropriate;~~

(2) A log or report of all contacts with the provider, including the name of each caller, when available, the crisis line worker, and the time and duration of the call shall be maintained for quality assurance review and ongoing staff supervision.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042 430.640

Stats Implemented: ORS 430.630, 430.640, 430.644 - 430.646